# Extracellular Inflammatory Signaling from Dysfunctional Telomeres

A Dissertation

Presented to the Graduate Faculty of the University of the Sciences in Philadelphia in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

# DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

by

ZHUO WANG

July 20, 2017

ProQuest Number: 10692989

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10692989

Published by ProQuest LLC (2017). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346

## UNIVERSITY OF THE SCIENCES IN PHILADELPHIA This is to Certify that the Dissertation Prepared by

### ZHUO WANG

Titled

Extracellular Inflammatory Signaling from Dysfunctional Telomeres

Complies with the Policies of the Graduate Faculty of the University of the Sciences in Philadelphia and is Approved by the Research Advisory Committee as Fulfilling the Dissertation Requirements for the

degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

July 20, 2017

Dana A. Pape-Zambito, Ph.D. Chairman, Advisory Committee Paul M. Lieberman, Ph.D. Supervisor, Advisory Committee

Emmanuel Skordalakes, Ph.D. Member, Advisory Committee Rugang Zhang, Ph.D. Member, Advisory Committee

Nathan Baird, Ph.D. Reviewer

# DEDICATION

With love and gratitude to my wife, Shiyu Zhu, for her love, support, patience, encouragement, and believe in me ...

Also to my parents, parents-in-law, and friends for all their support.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to many people who have supported and helped me to make it possible to complete this thesis work.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my Ph.D. advisor Dr. Paul M. Lieberman. Thank you for all the support and guidance on every aspect of my scientific development, from asking critical research questions, developing a testable hypothesis, solving problems, to offering advice to improve my scientific presentation and writing skills. Your wisdom and research ethics have a profound influence on my scientific perspectives and the ways to work efficiently and effectively. You are my role model that lights up my scientific career. It is my great experience and honor to perform my Ph.D. training under your mentorship.

I would also like to thank my thesis committee members Dr. Dana A. Pape-Zambito, Dr. Emmanuel Skordalakes and Dr. Rugang Zhang for their critical advice and generous support on my projects. I am grateful to Dr. Pape-Zambito for traveling to attend every committee meeting, even during the bad weathers, and for her help in keeping me on the track on my progress. I also appreciate Dr. Skordalakes and Dr. Zhang for providing collaboration opportunities to expand my research background, and for asking the challenging and thought-providing questions during the committee meetings to move my projects forward. In addition, I want to thank Dr. Nathan Baird for taking the effort to review my thesis, and provide critical feedback.

I would also like to thank the current and former members of the Lieberman's lab who provide not only scientific input and help, but also many life and career advice. I especially acknowledge Dr. Zhong Deng, who taught me almost all the techniques for telomere-related research and gave me opportunities to get involved in many other projects. Without his support, I could not make the list of publications in my curriculum vitae. I want to thank Andreas Wiedmer and Olga Vladimirova for providing the technique and lab support. I also appreciate the scientific and career advice from Fang Lu, Kate Beishline, Troy Messick, Jayaraju Dheekollu and Stephen Tutton. Last but not least, I would like to thank my scientific friends and lunch mates, who share my joy and sorrow and keep me positive, including Horng-Shen Chen, Alessandra De Leo, Kayla Martin, Michela Perego, Filippo Veglia and Elisa Barbieri. Especially, Horng, Alessandra, and Kayla have shown great solicitude in my life and career.

Thanks to all recommenders who provide generous support during my scientific career. These include my advisor Dr. Lieberman, the committee members Dr. Skordalakes and Dr. Zhang, my former advisor during Master's program Dr. Yong-Jie Xu, and the previous collaborators Yehuda (Dudy) Tzfati. I sincerely appreciate their kindness in writing the letter and making the important recommendation to increase the impact of my applications.

I would also like to thank the Cancer Biology program shared by University of the Sciences in Philadelphia (USciences) and the Wistar Institute. This program has offered me such as an excellent opportunity to access the resources in both institutes, including the useful courses at USciences and the cutting-edge research at Wistar. It is a great experience to receive my Ph.D. training in this program.

Finally but most importantly, I would like to thank my wife and family with my genuine love and gratitude. To my wife Shiyu Zhu, I am so grateful to have you in my life, who understands me, loves me, and believes in me even when I got frustrated. Her encouragement lets me get my confidence back. Without her constant support, patience, and understanding, I could not have gone so far to become who I am. I also want to thank my parents and parents-in-law for their love, support, and patience. These significant people are everything to my life: "Family is not an important thing, it is everything." – Michael J. Fox.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iv
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF TABLES	X
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xi
ABSTRACT	xiii
CHAPTER 1. Telemore repeat containing RNA (TERRA) is deregulated during	
telomere dysfunction	1
1.1 Telomere maintenance determines cellular aging and tumorigenesis	2
1.2 The roles of TERRA in telomere maintenance	6
1.3 Transcriptional regulation of TERRA in normal and dysfunctional telomeres	9
1.4 The association between dysfunctional telomeres and inflammation	. 11
1.5 The immunoregulatory function of exosomes	. 13
1.6 Scope of this dissertation	. 16
1.7 References	. 17
CHAPTER 2: Telomeric repeat-containing RNA (TERRA) constitutes a	
nucleoprotein component of extracellular inflammatory exosomes	. 24
2.1 Abstract	. 25
2.2 Significance statement	. 26
2.3 Introduction	. 26
2.4 Results	. 29
2.4.1 Identification of cfTERRA in the fraction of exosomes	. 29
2.4.2 cfTERRA was protected by a structure with similar density as exosomes	. 36
2.4.3 cfTERRA Is bound by histones in exosome fraction	. 39
2.4.4 cfTERRA modulates the transcription of inflammatory cytokines in recipient cells.	. 45
2.5 Discussion	. 50
2.5.1 TERRA is deregulated in cancer and stress response.	. 51
2.5.2 Telomeres and immunological response	. 51
2.5.3 Immunological Effects of Telomere Repeat DNA	. 52
2.5.4 Components of the exosome code	. 53
2.0 1 apression and a second s	. 54
2.7 Acknowledgments	. 50
CHAPTER 3. The crosstalk of telomere dysfunction and inflammation through c	ell-
free TERRA containing exosomes	. 61
3.1 Abstract	. 62
3.2 Introduction	. 62
3.3 Results and Discussion	. 64
3.3.1 TERRA is highly enriched in human exosomes	. 64
3.3.2 Inflammatory properties of exosomal TERRA	. 67
3.3.3 cfTERRA biogenesis	. 70
3.3.4 cfTERRA as telomere-specific alarmin, or TAMP	. 72
3.3.5 cfTERRA as potential biomarker for telomere dysfunction and associated human	
disease	. 73

3.4 Acknowledgments	73
3.5 References	73
CHAPTER 4: Materials and methods	77
4.1 Materials	
4.2 Methods	79
4.3 References	
CHAPTER 5: Final discussion	
5.1 Telomere dysfunction occurs during aging and tumorigenesis	
5.2 Dysfunctional telomeres cause TERRA deregulation	
5.3 TERRA represents a telomere-specific molecular pattern (TAMP)	
5.4 Chronic inflammation promotes on cellular aging and tumorigenesis	
5.5 The therapeutic potentials of cfTERRA-containing exosomes	
5.6 References	100

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Telomere maintenance determines cellular aging and tumorigenesis5
Figure 1.2 Summary of the transcriptional regulation and functions of TERRA8
Figure 1.3 The metabolism of exosomes16
Figure 2.1 Identification of TERRA signals in mouse tissue and human plasma31
Figure 2.2 Characterization of cfTERRA in extracellular fractions from cell culture32
Figure 2.3 Growth arrest induces cfTERRA production in LCLs33
Figure 2.4 Subtelomeric origins of cfTERRA34
Figure 2.5 cfTERRA was released with different levels in other cell lines35
Figure 2.6 cfTERRA co-purifies with exosomes37
Figure 2.7 cfTERRA is protected by exosomes 38
Figure 2.8 cfTERRA is associated with exosomes40
Figure 2.9 cfTERRA is more associated with CD81-positive exosomes 41
Figure 2.10 Functional enrichment analysis of proteins identified by LC-MS/MS42
Figure 2.11 cfTERRA is associated with histones 43
Figure 2.12 Exosomes contain chromatin-associated DNA44
Figure 2.13 TERRA-containing exosomes stimulate inflammatory cytokines46
Figure 2.14 Inducing TERRA levels in exosomes promotes inflammatory cytokine
expression47
Figure 2.15 TERRA-mimic liposomes stimulate inflammatory cytokines 47
Figure 2.16 Exosome-associated TERRA stimulates inflammatory cytokines48
Figure 2.17 Additional cytokine expression profile stimulated by TERRA-mimic
liposomes 49
Figure 2.18 Synthetic TERRA stimulates cytokine production 49
Figure 3.1 Induction of cellular and cell-free TERRA by the dominant negative TRF266
Figure 3.2 cfTERRA containing exosomal RNA constitutes more activity over DNA in
stimulating inflammatory cytokines69
Figure 3.3 Model of cfTERRA containing exosomes as telomere-specific alarmin
containing telomere-associated molecular patterns (TAMP) that mediate the crosstalk of
telomere dysfunction with inflammation70

Figure 5.1 Cytokine expression profile in response to TERRA induction in	cancerous
HCT116 and normal fibroblast BJ-hTERT cell lines	96
Figure 5.2 Nuclease characterizations of exosomal nucleic acids	97

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 RNA-seq analysis for TERRA	54
Table 2 List of oligonucleotides used for qRT-PCR and ChIP-qPCR	55

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

TERRA: Telomere repeats-containing RNA cfTERRA: Cell-free TERRA SASP: senescence-associated secretory phenotype TASP: telomere-associated secretory phenotype DAMPs: damage-associated molecular pattern molecules TAMP: telomere-associated molecular pattern TIFs: Telomere dysfunction-induced foci ALT: Alternative lengthening of telomeres Shelterins: TRF1, TRF2, POT1, TPP1, TIN2 and RAP1 **RNAPII: RNA polymerase II** Exo 1: Exonuclease 1 TERT: telomerase reverse transcriptase H3K9me3: H3K9 trimethylation HP1: Heterochromatin Protein 1 ORC1: origin recognition complex subunit 1 DNMT3b: DNA methyltransferase 3b HSF1: heat shock factor 1 NRF1: nuclear respiratory factor 1 NHEJ: non-homologous end-joining GBM: glioblastoma multiforme COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease IPF: idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis PRRs: pattern recognition receptors LINEs: long interspersed nuclear elements SINEs: short interspersed nuclear elements HSATII: Human satellite II PRRs: Pattern recognition receptors TLRs: Toll-like receptors PBMCs: peripheral blood mononuclear cells

CML: chronic myeloid leukemia

EVs: extracellular vesicles

MVBs: multivesicular bodies

ESCRT: endosomal sorting complex required for transport

RNAi: RNA interference

hnRNPA2B1: ribonucleoprotein A2B1

HCV: Hepatitis C Virus

HBV: Hepatitis B virus

HSV1: Herpes simplex virus 1

MHV68: murine gammaherpesvirus 68

RIG-I: retinoic acid inducible gene I

NK: natural killer

LCL: lymphoblastoid cell line

CXCL10: C-X-C chemokine 10

LPS: lipopolysaccharides

#### ABSTRACT

Telomere dysfunction describes the catastrophic damage at telomeres, which often leads to genomic instability at the cellular level. There is rising evidence showing that telomere dysfunction also influences the extracellular environment with the inflammatory response. However, little is known about the molecular mechanism of this dysfunctional telomere-associated inflammation. In this dissertation, we identified extracellular forms of Telomeric repeat-containing RNA (TERRA), and demonstrated it might play a role in mediating the crosstalk of telomere dysfunction and inflammation. We found this cellfree TERRA (cfTERRA) is present in mouse tumor and embryonic brain tissue, as well as in human tissue culture cell lines using RNA in situ hybridization. RNA-seq analyses revealed TERRA to be among the most highly represented transcripts in extracellular fractions derived from both normal and cancer patient blood plasma. By characterizing extracellular fractions of the human lymphoblastoid cell line (LCL) culture media, cfTERRA is shown as a shorter form (~200 nt) of cellular TERRA and co-purifies with CD63- and CD81-positive exosome vesicles that could be visualized by cryo-electron microscopy. Mass spectrometry and extracellular chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays revealed that regular cfTERRA was physically interacting with histones and telomeric DNA. Incubation of cfTERRA-containing exosomes with peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) stimulated transcription of several inflammatory cytokine genes, including TNF $\alpha$ , IL6, and C-X-C chemokine 10 (CXCL10). Exosomes engineered with elevated TERRA or liposomes with synthetic TERRA further stimulated inflammatory cytokines, suggesting that exosome-associated TERRA augments innate immune signaling. The levels of cfTERRA and DNA damage marker yH2AX were

increasingly incorporated into the exosomes during telomere dysfunction. These dysfunctional telomere-derived exosomes activated a more robust transcription of inflammatory cytokines in PBMCs. These findings imply a previously unknown extrinsic function of TERRA and a potentially molecular mechanism of communication between telomeres and innate immune signaling in tissue and tumor microenvironments.

CHAPTER 1: Telomere repeat-containing RNA (TERRA) is deregulated during telomere dysfunction

Telomere repeat-containing RNA (TERRA) is the long non-coding RNA transcribed from telomeres and is involved in many aspects of telomere maintenance (1). Loss of telomeric DNA causes a cell cycle arrest that is a hallmark of cellular aging, whereas cancer cells overcome this replicative senescence by activating telomere elongation mechanisms (2). During tumorigenesis, we found that TERRA expression is often upregulated as shown in a mouse model for medulloblastoma (3). The induction of TERRA expression is also observed during the telomere dysfunction caused by HSV-1 infection (4). These compelling data suggest that TERRA levels may reflect the status of telomere maintenance, and provide a potential biomarker for dysfunctional telomeres under certain types of stress. However, it is still unknown what is the functional significance of TERRA induction for cellular senescence, tumorigenesis, and viral infection. In this chapter, I will review the current understanding of the roles of TERRA in telomere maintenance, and propose the hypothesis that TERRA plays an extrinsic role in mediating the crosstalk between telomere dysfunction and inflammation through the exosomes secretion.

### 1.1 Telomere maintenance determines cellular aging and tumorigenesis

Telomeres are chromatin structures that protect the ends of linear chromosomes from genetic and structural damage (5). As demonstrated in Figure 1.1, telomeric DNA consists of 4-15kb double-stranded DNA with the sequence of TTAGGG repeats and a six-subunit protein complex, named shelterin, which regulates telomere length and structure (6). Due to the nature of DNA replication, the length of telomeric DNA is shortened at each cell division (7). When telomeres decrease below a critical length, the

cell may lose the ability to proliferate further and undergo replicative senescence or programmed cell death (8). Thus, normal telomere shortening not only explains the molecular mechanism of cellular aging in somatic cells, but also provides a suppressive pressure on tumorigenesis by limiting the replication capacity.

Cancer cells overcome this anti-proliferative barrier by activating telomere elongation mechanisms (9). Most cancers activate telomerase, the enzyme that synthesizes telomeric DNA by reverse transcription, whereas 10-15% of human cancers use a homologous recombination-mediated replication, referred to as Alternative Lengthening of Telomeres (ALT) mechanism (10). Telomerase activity is also required for sustaining the replication capacity in embryonic stem cells and germline cells, but becomes limited in adult stem cells or is restricted to somatic cells (11). Mutations in telomerase components are associated with several premature aging syndromes such as dyskeratosis congenital and aplastic anaemia due to accelerated telomere shortening (12).

Not only is accelerated telomere shortening deleterious for development and aging, but also shortened telomeres promote tumorigenesis due to increasing level of genetic instability (13). There would be enhanced chromosome fusion because short telomeres lose the ability to bind with the shelterin complex (14). The major DNA-binding proteins within the shelterin complex include the double-strand specific factors TRF1 and TRF2, and the single-strand binding protein POT1 (15). They cooperatively recruit other shelterins components (RAP1, TIN2, and TPP1), to facilitate telomere replication and structural integrity necessary for telomere stability (16). TRF2 and POT1 protect

telomere integrity from DNA damage signaling by repressing ATM and ATR kinases, respectively (17). Loss of the Shelterin proteins leads to a strong DNA damage response phenotype, evidenced by an increase in 53BP1 and  $\gamma$ -H2AX telomere dysfunction-induced foci (TIFs) (18). The repair of the dysfunctional telomeres leads to chromosome end-to-end fusions, which increases genomic instability and the potential onset of cancer (19).



**Figure 1.1 Telomere maintenance determines cellular aging and tumorigenesis** (Modified based on (20)). Mammalian telomeres are the nucleoprotein structure at the end of linear chromosomes, which consist of repetitive DNA in the sequence of TTAGGG and protein complex named Shelterins (TRF1, TRF2, POT1, TPP1, TIN2 and RAP1). TERRA are the non-coding RNA transcripts generated from telomeres. Shelterins protect the telomeric DNA and prevent DNA damage response. With repeated cell divisions, telomeric DNA is shortened. Cellular aging results from p53 mediated apoptosis or senescence in response to telomere loss. On the other hand, loss of p53 along with other oncogenes promotes tumorigenesis, which activates telomerase or ALT pathway for telomere elongation.

#### **1.2** The roles of TERRA in telomere maintenance

Telomeres are shown to express a group of non-coding RNAs containing the telomeric UUAGGG sequence from all eukaryotic cells, referred to as TERRA (21) (22). The transcribed TERRA is heterogeneous in length ranging from 100 to 9,000 bases, whereas RNAs with the anti-sense telomeric sequence are negligible in mammals (21). TERRA transcription is mediated by subtelomeric CpG-island promoters and RNA polymerase II (RNAPII) from most chromosome ends (22). The majority of TERRA (>90%) is not polyadenylated at their 3'-end, and polyadenylation of TERRA molecules increases their half-life (23). However, only the non-polyadenylated TERRA is associated with telomeric chromatin in the nucleus (23). Therefore, polyadenylation of TERRA molecules determine their stability and localization (23). There is also a small fraction of TERRA localized in the cytoplasm, but no clear function of this cytoplasmic TERRA has been studied (22,23).

The recent studies of TERRA provide new insights into the telomere maintenance. Elevated TERRA levels correlate with abnormally short telomeres as shown in the autosomal recessive ICF syndrome (Immunodeficiency, Centromeric region instability, Facial anomalies), which implies that TERRA may negatively regulate telomere length (24). Indeed, TERRA accelerates telomere shortening by promoting the telomere resection by Exonuclease 1 (Exo 1) (25). Overexpression of TERRA could also accumulate telomeric RNA-DNA hybrids, which interfere with telomeric DNA replication in the normal and telomerase positive cells (26). Also, TERRA levels are inversely correlated with telomerase activity during stem cell differentiation and cancer progression (22). TERRA interacts with telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) protein, and is predicted as a direct inhibitor of telomerase in vitro (27). However, this inhibitory effect on telomerase is still controversial because overexpression of TERRA is observed in several types of cancers and does not affect telomerase activity in human cancer cells (28). TERRA even recruits telomerase to short telomeres for elongation as shown in yeast (29). In ALT-positive cancer cells, TERRA is supporting the recombination-based elongation mechanism by forming the telomeric RNA-DNA hybrids (R-loop) structure (30). TERRA depletion or removal of the telomeric R-loop result in telomere shortening and cellular senescence(31). These findings support the model that TERRA plays an essential role in regulating telomere length.

TERRA is also involved in the epigenetic regulation of telomeric chromatin, and forms an integral component of telomeric heterochromatin (32). Normal telomeric chromatin is rich of heterochromatic epigenetic marks, featuring histone H3K9 trimethylation (H3K9me3), heavily methylated CpGs and Heterochromatin Protein 1 (HP1), which tightly packs the telomeric chromatin to repress undesirable lengthening of telomeres (33). Telomere shortening leads to a change in the architecture of telomeric chromatin with the loss of heterochromatic features (34). Disruption of the heterochromatic environment results in the induction of TERRA, which interacts with TRF2 to recruit origin recognition complex subunit 1 (ORC1) and HP1 to telomeres (32). TERRA also interacts with histone methyltransferases Suv39h1 and 2 to increase the H3K9me3 levels at telomeric chromatin (35). TERRA depletion causes loss of HP1 and H3K9me3 at the telomeres, confirming the role of TERRA in facilitating telomeric heterochromatin formation (35). As heterochromatin is established at telomeres, the epigenetic environment inhibits TERRA transcription, which provides a negative feedback mechanism in the regulation of TERRA expression (36).



**Figure 1.2 Summary of the transcriptional regulation and functions of TERRA** (Modified based on (33) (37) (38)). (A) This chart summarizes that the transcription of TERRA is subject to at least the four levels of regulation including epigenetics, chromatin organization, transcription factors and telomere capping. (B) This diagram displays the basic features in subtelomeres and telomere that relate to transcriptional regulation of TERRA. (C) This diagram outlines the core functions of TERRA in controlling telomerase activity, telomere capping, telomeric DNA replication, heterochromatin formation, and other unknown functions.

#### 1.3 Transcriptional regulation of TERRA in normal and dysfunctional telomeres

The transcription of TERRA is primary determined by the epigenetic status of telomeric chromatin (Figure 1.2) (39). Heterochromatic marks H3K9me3, H3K27me3, and HP1 are constitutively present in normal telomeres, which are silenced with a minimum of TERRA expression (36). However, transcriptionally active histone modifications H3K4me3 and H3K27ac are found at TERRA promoters and telomeric repeats, suggesting the epigenetic status of telomeric chromatin is dynamically regulated (40). For example, telomere elongation increases the levels of H3K9me3 and HP1a to repress TERRA transcription(35). Meanwhile, DNA methylation provides another mechanism for the epigenetic regulation of TERRA transcription (41). The CpGs in TERRA promoters are generally methylated by DNA methyltransferase to maintain a low level of TERRA at healthy telomeres (42). Patients with ICF caused by DNA methyltransferase 3b (DNMT3b) mutations display hypomethylation of TERRA promoters, TERRA overexpression and short telomeres (24), which supports the significance of epigenetic regulation of TERRA transcription.

Subtelomere chromatin organization and telomere capping also regulate the transcription of TERRA. We previously found the chromatin organizing factor CTCF, and sisterchromatid cohesion cooperatively binds to most human subtelomeres, which are adjacent to RNAPII-binding sites and TERRA promoters (Figure 1.2) (43). Depletion of CTCF or cohesion subunit Rad21 result in loss of RNAPII binding, decrease in TERRA transcription, and uncapping of TRF1 and TRF2 (43). Telomere uncapping induced by TRF2 depletion increases TERRA levels (36), whereas TRF1 interacts with RNAPII to support TERRA transcription (22). TERRA induction by TRF2 depletion is also attributed to the telomeric epigenetics mediated by and transcriptional regulator MLL, which is a histone methyltransferase to induce H3K4me3 at telomeres (44). These findings suggest telomeric epigenetics, subtelomere chromatin organization, and telomere capping is essential for the transcriptional regulation of TERRA.

During telomere dysfunction, TERRA induction is mediated by several stress response transcriptional factors. Our recent study shows that tumor suppressor p53 binds to several human subtelomeres to induce histone H3K9 and H3K37 acetylation and downstream TERRA expression in response to DNA damage caused by etoposide, which prevents the accumulation of DNA damage at telomeres (45). p53 can also cooperate with MLL in mediating the TERRA induction resulting from TRF2 depletion (44). Similarly, TERRA is induced by heat shock factor 1 (HSF1) to protect telomeric integrity during heat shock stress (46). Also, nuclear respiratory factor 1 (NRF1) is shown to activate TERRA transcription during endurance exercise, which provides a novel connection between TERRA and metabolism (47). The complete motifs analysis found at least 50 transcriptional regulatory elements in TERRA proximal promoters (36), suggesting there is a complicated regulatory network for TERRA transcription. The function of dysfunctional telomere-induced TERRA is not entirely understood. It is currently believed that TERRA works as a scaffold to recruit Suv39h1 and LSD1-MRE11 complex, and promote non-homologous end-joining (NHEJ)-mediated repair in dysfunctional telomeres (48).

Since tumorigenesis often provokes telomere dysfunction, there is an intriguing hypothesis in developing TERRA as an early biomarker for neoplastic and pre-cancerous lesions. When examining medulloblastoma tumorigenesis in mice, we found TERRA expression was highly upregulated in tumor tissues, but not adjacent normal tissues (3). Consistently with this result, high levels of TERRA were associated with low-grade glioblastoma multiforme (GBM), which is mostly telomerase negative and shows better prognosis in a cohort study (49). As tumors progress to a high-grade stage, TERRA expression is often inhibited by promoter methylation induced by telomerase activity (50), which may counteract the potentially inhibitory effect by TERRA. These findings suggest that TERRA levels may reflect the telomere dysfunction in the early stage of tumorigenesis before telomerase activity is elevated. Further cohort studies with different types of low-grade tumors samples would be informative to establish the correlation of TERRA expression levels and tumor progression.

#### 1.4 The association between dysfunctional telomeres and inflammation

At the physiological level, there is an association between dysfunctional telomeres and inflammation, which contributes to several chronic diseases. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (51) and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) (52) are two chronic lung diseases caused by sustained inflammation induced by telomere dysfunction. Dysfunctional telomeres induce senescence (53), which generates the senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) featuring the secretion of numerous proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and proteases (54). Although SASP was believed as the primary source of inflammatory cytokines, telomere

dysfunction also induces another inflammatory profile, named telomere-associated secretory phenotype (TASP) found in chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) model (55). One noticeable difference than SASP is TASP-producing cells are still proliferating with pre-shortened telomeres (55). It is still unclear what is the signaling pathway for producing TASP. One possibility is from the non-canonical activity of telomerase, which interacts with the p65 subunit of NF-kB to activate NF-kB signaling for the inflammatory cytokine expression (56). Another possibility is that innate immune system senses the damage at dysfunctional telomeres to initiate the inflammatory response.

Innate immunity provides a cellular defense to both foreign pathogen and endogenous danger signals (57). These signals are detected by a group of receptors that recognize their targets based on a unique pattern. The damage-associated molecular pattern molecules (DAMPs) are endogenous danger signals generated during cellular stress (58). Since the pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) are common for foreign pathogen and endogenous danger signals, DAMPs may present a similar pattern as a pathogen (59). In this sense, the pathogen-like elements are more susceptible to PRRs detection. For instance, non-coding LINE1 RNA (long interspersed nuclear elements) is the endogenous retrotransposon originally from retroviruses and is typically silenced in somatic cells (60). Environmental stress activates the transcription of LINE1 (61), which is then sensed by Toll-like receptors 7 and 8 (TLR7/TLR8) for innate immune signaling (62). Abnormal expression of LINE1 is correlated with autoimmune diseases including lupus nephritis and Sjögren's syndrome (63). As telomeres are considered as another element

with viral origin in the human genome (64), it is intriguing to consider whether TERRA may function as a danger signal to activate innate immunity.

On the other hand, low-grade chronic inflammation accelerates telomere shortening, and drives the so-called "inflammaging" process (65). Diabetes provides a clinically relevant example of a inflammaging disease with low-grade chronic inflammation and telomere attrition in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) (66,67). In patients with chronic kidney diseases, elevated inflammation is also correlated with reduced telomere length and telomerase activity in PBMCs (68). Interestingly, the kidney is one of the tissues with the most abundant in TERRA expression in mice (22). Since TERRA is often induced during telomere dysfunction and affects telomerase activity, it would be interesting to investigate whether these inflammaging diseases display TERRA dysregulation.

#### 1.5 The immunoregulatory function of exosomes

Exosomes are small extracellular vesicles (EVs) secreted from cells to mediate intercellular communication (69). In contrast to other EVs, exosomes are between 30 - 100 nm in size, originate from multivesicular bodies (MVBs) and containing specific markers such as CD63, CD9, CD81, Alix, and Tsg101 (70). Depending on their cellular origin and conditions, exosomes exhibit differential enrichment of proteins, lipids, mRNA, and microRNA, which allow them to deliver specific signals to the recipient cells (71). Since exosomes are found in the secretome of the many types of cells, the analysis of exosomes derived from human body fluids will provide valuable information for

diagnosis and prognosis of disease development (72). In term of the function of exosomes, they have been implicated in the regulation of the immune response (73), gene expression by miRNA (74), and pathogen spreading (75).

The biogenesis and uptake of exosomes primarily utilize multiple steps of the endosomal pathway, although many other pathways are also involved in exosomes metabolism (76). Exosomes are formed by inward budding into late endosome to form the MVBs in the cytoplasm (77). During this inward budding process, selected proteins and RNAs are sorted and enriched in the exosomes (78, 79). The endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT) machinery is involved in protein sorting (78). ESCRT machinery also crosstalks with GW-bodies, which is part of the RNA interference (RNAi) pathway, to sort miRNA into exosomes (79). The protein heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein A2B1 (hnRNPA2B1) also plays a critical role in loading RNA into exosomes by recognizing a specific motif (EXOmotifs GGAG) in the miRNAs (80). The matured exosomes in MVBs are either sorted to lysosomes for degradation or sent to the plasma membrane for secretion. The secretion of exosomes is mediated by the GTPase family RAB27 (81). The exosomes are released into extracellular fluid or travel through the circulating system to the recipient cells (82). Exosomes enter the recipient cells via endocytosis. Upon entering the early endosome, the functional signals are processed and delivered (82). Although endocytosis is the predominant mechanism for cell entry, exosomes can also enter cells by membrane fusion or receptor-mediated internalization (83).

Exosomes have been demonstrated to regulate both innate and adaptive immune system, which result in either beneficial or detrimental effect, depending on the context (84, 85). The immunostimulatory activity of exosomes mostly beneficial in supporting the host immune system (86). Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) infected cells release exosomes containing viral RNA. When the exosomes are recognized by non-permissive plasmacytoid dendritic cells, endosomal TLR7 is activated which in turn activates the innate immune system to limit viral replication (87). All the antigen-presenting cells are shown to release exosomes harboring either MHC I or II to support the T cell activation in vitro or in vivo (88, 89). Conversely, exosomes can induce immunosuppression (90), which is beneficial to prevent an autoimmune response. During mammalian pregnancy, placenta-derived exosomes secrete several immunosuppressive factors, which increases fetal tolerance within the mother (91). However, the immunosuppressive effect of exosomes would be detrimental if utilized by a pathogen or tumor. For instance, hepatitis B virus (HBV) can transfer the viral components through exosomes inhibiting the retinoic acid inducible gene I (RIG-I) mediated innate immune response in natural killer (NK) cells (92). Similarly, nematode parasites release exosomes containing several miRNAs to turn down the host innate immunity (93). In addition, tumor-derived exosomes promote tumor progression at many levels, either by suppressing anti-tumor immune responses (94) or by spreading oncogenic materials (95).



**Figure 1.3 The metabolism of exosomes** (Modified based on (96)). (A) The biogenesis of exosomes. The exosomes are formed by inward budding at early endosome, and matured in the multivesicular bodies (MVBs) for secretion. (B) The uptake of exosomes by target cells through fusion, endocytosis, and phagocytosis. (C) Zoom in of the exosomes to indicate the markers and components.

### 1.6 Scope of this dissertation

Based on the previous introduction, we already know that telomere maintenance determines cellular aging and prevents tumorigenesis. TERRA play critical roles in telomere maintenance (1), and is often upregulated during telomere dysfunction (3). Since dysfunctional telomeres have shown to produce a telomere-associated secretory phenotype (TASP) (55), we wonder whether TERRA is involved in the activation of TASP. In our previous studies of mouse medulloblastoma (3), we found TERRA foci

localized outside of the nuclear and cellular compartments in the tumor tissue sections. Therefore, we hypothesized that dysfunctional telomere-induced TERRA might represent a telomere-specific damage signal; this TERRA could be secreted by exosomes to induce the inflammatory cytokine signaling in recipient cells. The hypothesis was tested in this dissertation, and presented in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3. Our ultimate goal is to understand the pathological roles of TERRA induction in inflammaging, and develop a TERRA-based biomarker for detecting telomere dysfunction in the early stage of tumorigenesis or age-associated inflammatory diseases.

### **1.7 References**

1. Azzalin, C. M., and Lingner, J. (2015) Telomere functions grounding on TERRA firma. *Trends in cell biology* **25**, 29-36

2. Shay, J. W. (2016) Role of Telomeres and Telomerase in Aging and Cancer. *Cancer discovery* **6**, 584-593

3. Deng, Z., Wang, Z., Xiang, C., Molczan, A., Baubet, V., Conejo-Garcia, J., Xu, X., Lieberman, P. M., and Dahmane, N. (2012) Formation of telomeric repeat-containing RNA (TERRA) foci in highly proliferating mouse cerebellar neuronal progenitors and medulloblastoma. *Journal of cell science* **125**, 4383-4394

4. Deng, Z., Kim, E. T., Vladimirova, O., Dheekollu, J., Wang, Z., Newhart, A., Liu, D., Myers, J. L., Hensley, S. E., Moffat, J., Janicki, S. M., Fraser, N. W., Knipe, D. M., Weitzman, M. D., and Lieberman, P. M. (2014) HSV-1 remodels host telomeres to facilitate viral replication. *Cell reports* **9**, 2263-2278

5. Blackburn, E. H., Greider, C. W., and Szostak, J. W. (2006) Telomeres and telomerase: the path from maize, Tetrahymena and yeast to human cancer and aging. *Nature medicine* **12**, 1133-1138

6. Schmutz, I., and de Lange, T. (2016) Shelterin. *Current biology : CB* 26, R397-399

7. Stewart, S. A., and Weinberg, R. A. (2006) Telomeres: cancer to human aging. *Annual review of cell and developmental biology* **22**, 531-557

8. Zanni, G. R., and Wick, J. Y. (2011) Telomeres: unlocking the mystery of cell division and aging. *The Consultant pharmacist : the journal of the American Society of Consultant Pharmacists* **26**, 78-90

9. Songyang, Z. (2017) Introduction to Telomeres and Telomerase. *Methods in molecular biology* **1587**, 1-13

10. Reddel, R. R. (2003) Alternative lengthening of telomeres, telomerase, and cancer. *Cancer letters* **194**, 155-162

11. Shay, J. W., and Wright, W. E. (2010) Telomeres and telomerase in normal and cancer stem cells. *FEBS letters* **584**, 3819-3825

12. Armanios, M., and Blackburn, E. H. (2012) The telomere syndromes. *Nature reviews. Genetics* **13**, 693-704

13. Hackett, J. A., and Greider, C. W. (2002) Balancing instability: dual roles for telomerase and telomere dysfunction in tumorigenesis. *Oncogene* **21**, 619-626

14. Sawyer, J. R., Goosen, L. S., Stine, K. C., and Thomas, J. R. (1994) Telomere fusion as a mechanism for the progressive loss of the short arm of chromosome 11 in an anaplastic Wilms' tumor. *Cancer* **74**, 767-773

15. Erdel, F., Kratz, K., Willcox, S., Griffith, J. D., Greene, E. C., and de Lange, T. (2017) Telomere Recognition and Assembly Mechanism of Mammalian Shelterin. *Cell reports* **18**, 41-53

16. de Lange, T. (2010) How shelterin solves the telomere end-protection problem. *Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology* **75**, 167-177

17. Timashev, L. A., Babcock, H., Zhuang, X., and de Lange, T. (2017) The DDR at telomeres lacking intact shelterin does not require substantial chromatin decompaction. *Genes & development* **31**, 578-589

18. Mender, I., and Shay, J. W. (2015) Telomere Dysfunction Induced Foci (TIF) Analysis. *Bio-protocol* **5** 

19. Meena, J., Rudolph, K. L., and Gunes, C. (2015) Telomere Dysfunction, Chromosomal Instability and Cancer. *Recent results in cancer research. Fortschritte der Krebsforschung. Progres dans les recherches sur le cancer* **200**, 61-79

20. Lazzerini-Denchi, E., and Sfeir, A. (2016) Stop pulling my strings - what telomeres taught us about the DNA damage response. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **17**, 364-378

21. Azzalin, C. M., Reichenbach, P., Khoriauli, L., Giulotto, E., and Lingner, J. (2007) Telomeric repeat containing RNA and RNA surveillance factors at mammalian chromosome ends. *Science* **318**, 798-801

22. Schoeftner, S., and Blasco, M. A. (2008) Developmentally regulated transcription of mammalian telomeres by DNA-dependent RNA polymerase II. *Nature cell biology* **10**, 228-236

23. Porro, A., Feuerhahn, S., Reichenbach, P., and Lingner, J. (2010) Molecular dissection of telomeric repeat-containing RNA biogenesis unveils the presence of distinct and multiple regulatory pathways. *Molecular and cellular biology* **30**, 4808-4817

24. Yehezkel, S., Segev, Y., Viegas-Pequignot, E., Skorecki, K., and Selig, S. (2008) Hypomethylation of subtelomeric regions in ICF syndrome is associated with abnormally short telomeres and enhanced transcription from telomeric regions. *Human molecular genetics* **17**, 2776-2789

25. Pfeiffer, V., and Lingner, J. (2012) TERRA promotes telomere shortening through exonuclease 1-mediated resection of chromosome ends. *PLoS genetics* **8**, e1002747

26. Balk, B., Maicher, A., Dees, M., Klermund, J., Luke-Glaser, S., Bender, K., and Luke, B. (2013) Telomeric RNA-DNA hybrids affect telomere-length dynamics and senescence. *Nature structural & molecular biology* **20**, 1199-1205

27. Redon, S., Reichenbach, P., and Lingner, J. (2010) The non-coding RNA TERRA is a natural ligand and direct inhibitor of human telomerase. *Nucleic acids research* **38**, 5797-5806

28. Farnung, B. O., Brun, C. M., Arora, R., Lorenzi, L. E., and Azzalin, C. M. (2012) Telomerase efficiently elongates highly transcribing telomeres in human cancer cells. *PloS one* **7**, e35714

29. Cusanelli, E., Romero, C. A., and Chartrand, P. (2013) Telomeric noncoding RNA TERRA is induced by telomere shortening to nucleate telomerase molecules at short telomeres. *Molecular cell* **51**, 780-791

30. Balk, B., Dees, M., Bender, K., and Luke, B. (2014) The differential processing of telomeres in response to increased telomeric transcription and RNA-DNA hybrid accumulation. *RNA biology* **11**, 95-100

31. Pfeiffer, V., Crittin, J., Grolimund, L., and Lingner, J. (2013) The THO complex component Thp2 counteracts telomeric R-loops and telomere shortening. *The EMBO journal* **32**, 2861-2871

32. Deng, Z., Norseen, J., Wiedmer, A., Riethman, H., and Lieberman, P. M. (2009) TERRA RNA binding to TRF2 facilitates heterochromatin formation and ORC recruitment at telomeres. *Molecular cell* **35**, 403-413

33. Schoeftner, S., and Blasco, M. A. (2009) A 'higher order' of telomere regulation: telomere heterochromatin and telomeric RNAs. *The EMBO journal* **28**, 2323-2336

34. Benetti, R., Garcia-Cao, M., and Blasco, M. A. (2007) Telomere length regulates the epigenetic status of mammalian telomeres and subtelomeres. *Nature genetics* **39**, 243-250

35. Arnoult, N., Van Beneden, A., and Decottignies, A. (2012) Telomere length regulates TERRA levels through increased trimethylation of telomeric H3K9 and HP1alpha. *Nature structural & molecular biology* **19**, 948-956

36. Porro, A., Feuerhahn, S., Delafontaine, J., Riethman, H., Rougemont, J., and Lingner, J. (2014) Functional characterization of the TERRA transcriptome at damaged telomeres. *Nature communications* **5**, 5379

37. Blasco, M. A. (2007) The epigenetic regulation of mammalian telomeres. *Nature reviews. Genetics* **8**, 299-309

38. Talbert, P. B., and Henikoff, S. (2017) Histone variants on the move: substrates for chromatin dynamics. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **18**, 115-126

39. Schoeftner, S., and Blasco, M. A. (2010) Chromatin regulation and non-coding RNAs at mammalian telomeres. *Seminars in cell & developmental biology* **21**, 186-193

40. Negishi, Y., Kawaji, H., Minoda, A., and Usui, K. (2015) Identification of chromatin marks at TERRA promoter and encoding region. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **467**, 1052-1057

41. Nergadze, S. G., Farnung, B. O., Wischnewski, H., Khoriauli, L., Vitelli, V., Chawla, R., Giulotto, E., and Azzalin, C. M. (2009) CpG-island promoters drive transcription of human telomeres. *Rna* **15**, 2186-2194

42. Deng, Z., Campbell, A. E., and Lieberman, P. M. (2010) TERRA, CpG methylation and telomere heterochromatin: lessons from ICF syndrome cells. *Cell cycle* **9**, 69-74

43. Deng, Z., Wang, Z., Stong, N., Plasschaert, R., Moczan, A., Chen, H. S., Hu, S., Wikramasinghe, P., Davuluri, R. V., Bartolomei, M. S., Riethman, H., and Lieberman, P. M. (2012) A role for CTCF and cohesin in subtelomere chromatin organization, TERRA transcription, and telomere end protection. *The EMBO journal* **31**, 4165-4178

44. Caslini, C., Connelly, J. A., Serna, A., Broccoli, D., and Hess, J. L. (2009) MLL associates with telomeres and regulates telomeric repeat-containing RNA transcription. *Molecular and cellular biology* **29**, 4519-4526

45. Tutton, S., Azzam, G. A., Stong, N., Vladimirova, O., Wiedmer, A., Monteith, J. A., Beishline, K., Wang, Z., Deng, Z., Riethman, H., McMahon, S. B., Murphy, M., and Lieberman, P. M. (2016) Subtelomeric p53 binding prevents accumulation of DNA damage at human telomeres. *The EMBO journal* **35**, 193-207

46. Koskas, S., Decottignies, A., Dufour, S., Pezet, M., Verdel, A., Vourc'h, C., and Faure, V. (2017) Heat shock factor 1 promotes TERRA transcription and telomere protection upon heat stress. *Nucleic acids research* 

47. Diman, A., Boros, J., Poulain, F., Rodriguez, J., Purnelle, M., Episkopou, H., Bertrand, L., Francaux, M., Deldicque, L., and Decottignies, A. (2016) Nuclear respiratory factor 1 and endurance exercise promote human telomere transcription. *Science advances* **2**, e1600031

48. Porro, A., Feuerhahn, S., and Lingner, J. (2014) TERRA-reinforced association of LSD1 with MRE11 promotes processing of uncapped telomeres. *Cell reports* **6**, 765-776

49. Sampl, S., Pramhas, S., Stern, C., Preusser, M., Marosi, C., and Holzmann, K. (2012) Expression of telomeres in astrocytoma WHO grade 2 to 4: TERRA level correlates with telomere length, telomerase activity, and advanced clinical grade. *Translational oncology* **5**, 56-65

50. Ng, L. J., Cropley, J. E., Pickett, H. A., Reddel, R. R., and Suter, C. M. (2009) Telomerase activity is associated with an increase in DNA methylation at the proximal subtelomere and a reduction in telomeric transcription. *Nucleic acids research* **37**, 1152-1159

51. Amsellem, V., Gary-Bobo, G., Marcos, E., Maitre, B., Chaar, V., Validire, P., Stern, J. B., Noureddine, H., Sapin, E., Rideau, D., Hue, S., Le Corvoisier, P., Le Gouvello, S., Dubois-Rande, J. L., Boczkowski, J., and Adnot, S. (2011) Telomere dysfunction causes sustained inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* **184**, 1358-1366

52. Alder, J. K., Barkauskas, C. E., Limjunyawong, N., Stanley, S. E., Kembou, F., Tuder, R. M., Hogan, B. L., Mitzner, W., and Armanios, M. (2015) Telomere dysfunction causes alveolar stem cell failure. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **112**, 5099-5104

53. Adnot, S., Amsellem, V., Boyer, L., Marcos, E., Saker, M., Houssaini, A., Kebe, K., Dagouassat, M., Lipskaia, L., and Boczkowski, J. (2015) Telomere Dysfunction and Cell Senescence in Chronic Lung Diseases: Therapeutic Potential. *Pharmacology & therapeutics* **153**, 125-134

54. Coppe, J. P., Desprez, P. Y., Krtolica, A., and Campisi, J. (2010) The senescenceassociated secretory phenotype: the dark side of tumor suppression. *Annual review of pathology* **5**, 99-118

55. Braig, M., Pallmann, N., Preukschas, M., Steinemann, D., Hofmann, W., Gompf, A., Streichert, T., Braunschweig, T., Copland, M., Rudolph, K. L., Bokemeyer, C., Koschmieder, S., Schuppert, A., Balabanov, S., and Brummendorf, T. H. (2014) A 'telomere-associated secretory phenotype' cooperates with BCR-ABL to drive malignant proliferation of leukemic cells. *Leukemia* **28**, 2028-2039

56. Ghosh, A., Saginc, G., Leow, S. C., Khattar, E., Shin, E. M., Yan, T. D., Wong, M., Zhang, Z., Li, G., Sung, W. K., Zhou, J., Chng, W. J., Li, S., Liu, E., and Tergaonkar, V. (2012) Telomerase directly regulates NF-kappaB-dependent transcription. *Nature cell biology* **14**, 1270-1281

57. Brubaker, S. W., Bonham, K. S., Zanoni, I., and Kagan, J. C. (2015) Innate immune pattern recognition: a cell biological perspective. *Annual review of immunology* **33**, 257-290

58. Lotze, M. T., Zeh, H. J., Rubartelli, A., Sparvero, L. J., Amoscato, A. A., Washburn, N. R., Devera, M. E., Liang, X., Tor, M., and Billiar, T. (2007) The grateful dead: damage-associated molecular pattern molecules and reduction/oxidation regulate immunity. *Immunological reviews* **220**, 60-81

59. Brencicova, E., and Diebold, S. S. (2013) Nucleic acids and endosomal pattern recognition: how to tell friend from foe? *Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology* **3**, 37

60. Belancio, V. P., Roy-Engel, A. M., Pochampally, R. R., and Deininger, P. (2010) Somatic expression of LINE-1 elements in human tissues. *Nucleic acids research* **38**, 3909-3922

61. Morales, J. F., Snow, E. T., and Murnane, J. P. (2003) Environmental factors affecting transcription of the human L1 retrotransposon. II. Stressors. *Mutagenesis* 18, 151-158

62. Kassiotis, G., and Stoye, J. P. (2016) Immune responses to endogenous retroelements: taking the bad with the good. *Nature reviews. Immunology* **16**, 207-219

63. Mavragani, C. P., Sagalovskiy, I., Guo, Q., Nezos, A., Kapsogeorgou, E. K., Lu, P., Liang Zhou, J., Kirou, K. A., Seshan, S. V., Moutsopoulos, H. M., and Crow, M. K. (2016) Expression of Long Interspersed Nuclear Element 1 Retroelements and Induction of Type I Interferon in Patients With Systemic Autoimmune Disease. *Arthritis & rheumatology* **68**, 2686-2696

64. Witzany, G. (2008) The Viral Origins of Telomeres and Telomerases and their Important Role in Eukaryogenesis and Genome Maintenance. *Biosemiotics* **1**, 191-206

65. Franceschi, C., Garagnani, P., Vitale, G., Capri, M., and Salvioli, S. (2017) Inflammaging and 'Garb-aging'. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM* **28**, 199-212

66. Murillo-Ortiz, B., Albarran-Tamayo, F., Arenas-Aranda, D., Benitez-Bribiesca, L., Malacara-Hernandez, J. M., Martinez-Garza, S., Hernandez-Gonzalez, M., Solorio, S., Garay-Sevilla, M. E., and Mora-Villalpando, C. (2012) Telomere length and type 2 diabetes in males, a premature aging syndrome. *The aging male : the official journal of the International Society for the Study of the Aging Male* **15**, 54-58

67. Januszewski, A. S., Sutanto, S. S., McLennan, S., O'Neal, D. N., Keech, A. C., Twigg, S. M., and Jenkins, A. J. (2016) Shorter telomeres in adults with Type 1 diabetes correlate with diabetes duration, but only weakly with vascular function and risk factors. *Diabetes research and clinical practice* **117**, 4-11

68. Stefanidis, I., Voliotis, G., Papanikolaou, V., Chronopoulou, I., Eleftheriadis, T., Kowald, A., Zintzaras, E., and Tsezou, A. (2015) Telomere Length in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells of Patients on Chronic Hemodialysis Is Related With Telomerase Activity and Treatment Duration. *Artificial organs* **39**, 756-764
69. Thery, C., Zitvogel, L., and Amigorena, S. (2002) Exosomes: composition, biogenesis and function. *Nature reviews. Immunology* **2**, 569-579

70. Xu, R., Greening, D. W., Zhu, H. J., Takahashi, N., and Simpson, R. J. (2016) Extracellular vesicle isolation and characterization: toward clinical application. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **126**, 1152-1162

71. de Jong, O. G., Verhaar, M. C., Chen, Y., Vader, P., Gremmels, H., Posthuma, G., Schiffelers, R. M., Gucek, M., and van Balkom, B. W. (2012) Cellular stress conditions are reflected in the protein and RNA content of endothelial cell-derived exosomes. *Journal of extracellular vesicles* **1** 

72. Panigrahi, G. K., and Deep, G. (2017) Exosomes-based biomarker discovery for diagnosis and prognosis of prostate cancer. *Frontiers in bioscience* **22**, 1682-1696

73. Bobrie, A., Colombo, M., Raposo, G., and Thery, C. (2011) Exosome secretion: molecular mechanisms and roles in immune responses. *Traffic* **12**, 1659-1668

74. Baroni, S., Romero-Cordoba, S., Plantamura, I., Dugo, M., D'Ippolito, E., Cataldo, A., Cosentino, G., Angeloni, V., Rossini, A., Daidone, M. G., and Iorio, M. V. (2016) Exosome-mediated delivery of miR-9 induces cancer-associated fibroblast-like properties in human breast fibroblasts. *Cell death & disease* 7, e2312

75. Fleming, A., Sampey, G., Chung, M. C., Bailey, C., van Hoek, M. L., Kashanchi, F., and Hakami, R. M. (2014) The carrying pigeons of the cell: exosomes and their role in infectious diseases caused by human pathogens. *Pathogens and disease* **71**, 109-120

76. Urbanelli, L., Magini, A., Buratta, S., Brozzi, A., Sagini, K., Polchi, A., Tancini, B., and Emiliani, C. (2013) Signaling pathways in exosomes biogenesis, secretion and fate. *Genes* **4**, 152-170

77. Stoorvogel, W., Kleijmeer, M. J., Geuze, H. J., and Raposo, G. (2002) The biogenesis and functions of exosomes. *Traffic* **3**, 321-330

78. Colombo, M., Moita, C., van Niel, G., Kowal, J., Vigneron, J., Benaroch, P., Manel, N., Moita, L. F., Thery, C., and Raposo, G. (2013) Analysis of ESCRT functions in exosome biogenesis, composition and secretion highlights the heterogeneity of extracellular vesicles. *Journal of cell science* **126**, 5553-5565

79. Gibbings, D. J., Ciaudo, C., Erhardt, M., and Voinnet, O. (2009) Multivesicular bodies associate with components of miRNA effector complexes and modulate miRNA activity. *Nature cell biology* **11**, 1143-1149

80. Villarroya-Beltri, C., Gutierrez-Vazquez, C., Sanchez-Cabo, F., Perez-Hernandez, D., Vazquez, J., Martin-Cofreces, N., Martinez-Herrera, D. J., Pascual-Montano, A., Mittelbrunn, M., and Sanchez-Madrid, F. (2013) Sumoylated hnRNPA2B1 controls the sorting of miRNAs into exosomes through binding to specific motifs. *Nature communications* **4**, 2980

81. Ostenfeld, M. S., Jeppesen, D. K., Laurberg, J. R., Boysen, A. T., Bramsen, J. B., Primdal-Bengtson, B., Hendrix, A., Lamy, P., Dagnaes-Hansen, F., Rasmussen, M. H., Bui, K. H., Fristrup, N., Christensen, E. I., Nordentoft, I., Morth, J. P., Jensen, J. B., Pedersen, J. S., Beck, M., Theodorescu, D., Borre, M., Howard, K. A., Dyrskjot, L., and Orntoft, T. F. (2014) Cellular disposal of miR23b by RAB27-dependent exosome release is linked to acquisition of metastatic properties. *Cancer research* **74**, 5758-5771

82. Svensson, K. J., Christianson, H. C., Wittrup, A., Bourseau-Guilmain, E., Lindqvist, E., Svensson, L. M., Morgelin, M., and Belting, M. (2013) Exosome uptake depends on ERK1/2-heat shock protein 27 signaling and lipid Raft-mediated endocytosis

negatively regulated by caveolin-1. The Journal of biological chemistry 288, 17713-17724

83. Mulcahy, L. A., Pink, R. C., and Carter, D. R. (2014) Routes and mechanisms of extracellular vesicle uptake. *Journal of extracellular vesicles* **3** 

84. Benito-Martin, A., Di Giannatale, A., Ceder, S., and Peinado, H. (2015) The new deal: a potential role for secreted vesicles in innate immunity and tumor progression. *Frontiers in immunology* **6**, 66

85. Thery, C., Ostrowski, M., and Segura, E. (2009) Membrane vesicles as conveyors of immune responses. *Nature reviews. Immunology* **9**, 581-593

86. Tickner, J. A., Urquhart, A. J., Stephenson, S. A., Richard, D. J., and O'Byrne, K. J. (2014) Functions and therapeutic roles of exosomes in cancer. *Frontiers in oncology* **4**, 127

87. Li, J., Liu, K., Liu, Y., Xu, Y., Zhang, F., Yang, H., Liu, J., Pan, T., Chen, J., Wu, M., Zhou, X., and Yuan, Z. (2013) Exosomes mediate the cell-to-cell transmission of IFN-alpha-induced antiviral activity. *Nature immunology* **14**, 793-803

88. Buschow, S. I., Nolte-'t Hoen, E. N., van Niel, G., Pols, M. S., ten Broeke, T., Lauwen, M., Ossendorp, F., Melief, C. J., Raposo, G., Wubbolts, R., Wauben, M. H., and Stoorvogel, W. (2009) MHC II in dendritic cells is targeted to lysosomes or T cell-induced exosomes via distinct multivesicular body pathways. *Traffic* **10**, 1528-1542

89. Skogberg, G., Telemo, E., and Ekwall, O. (2015) Exosomes in the Thymus: Antigen Transfer and Vesicles. *Frontiers in immunology* **6**, 366

90. Lundy, S. K., Klinker, M. W., and Fox, D. A. (2015) Killer B lymphocytes and their fas ligand positive exosomes as inducers of immune tolerance. *Frontiers in immunology* **6**, 122

91. Hedlund, M., Stenqvist, A. C., Nagaeva, O., Kjellberg, L., Wulff, M., Baranov, V., and Mincheva-Nilsson, L. (2009) Human placenta expresses and secretes NKG2D ligands via exosomes that down-modulate the cognate receptor expression: evidence for immunosuppressive function. *Journal of immunology* **183**, 340-351

92. Yang, Y., Han, Q., Hou, Z., Zhang, C., Tian, Z., and Zhang, J. (2017) Exosomes mediate hepatitis B virus (HBV) transmission and NK-cell dysfunction. *Cellular & molecular immunology* **14**, 465-475

93. Buck, A. H., Coakley, G., Simbari, F., McSorley, H. J., Quintana, J. F., Le Bihan, T., Kumar, S., Abreu-Goodger, C., Lear, M., Harcus, Y., Ceroni, A., Babayan, S. A., Blaxter, M., Ivens, A., and Maizels, R. M. (2014) Exosomes secreted by nematode parasites transfer small RNAs to mammalian cells and modulate innate immunity. *Nature communications* **5**, 5488

94. Whiteside, T. L. (2016) Exosomes and tumor-mediated immune suppression. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **126**, 1216-1223

95. Soldevilla, B., Rodriguez, M., San Millan, C., Garcia, V., Fernandez-Perianez, R., Gil-Calderon, B., Martin, P., Garcia-Grande, A., Silva, J., Bonilla, F., and Dominguez, G. (2014) Tumor-derived exosomes are enriched in DeltaNp73, which promotes oncogenic potential in acceptor cells and correlates with patient survival. *Human molecular genetics* **23**, 467-478

96. Mittelbrunn, M., and Sanchez-Madrid, F. (2012) Intercellular communication: diverse structures for exchange of genetic information. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **13**, 328-335

CHAPTER 2: Telomeric repeat-containing RNA (TERRA) constitutes a nucleoprotein component of extracellular inflammatory exosomes

Modified based on published manuscript:

Wang, Z., Deng, Z., Dahmane, N., Tsai, K., Wang, P., Williams, D. R., ... & Conejo-Garcia, J. R. (2015). Telomeric repeat-containing RNA (TERRA) constitutes a nucleoprotein component of extracellular inflammatory exosomes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112(46), E6293-E6300.

# 2.1 Abstract

Telomeric repeat-containing RNA (TERRA) has been identified as a telomere-associated regulator of chromosome end protection. Here, we report that TERRA can also be found in extracellular fractions that stimulate innate immune signaling. We identified extracellular forms of TERRA in mouse tumor and embryonic brain tissue, as well as in human tissue culture cell lines using RNA in situ hybridization. RNA-seq analyses revealed TERRA to be among the most highly represented transcripts in extracellular fractions derived from both normal and cancer patient blood plasma. Cell-free TERRA (cfTERRA) could be isolated from the exosome fractions derived from human lymphoblastoid cell line (LCL) culture media. cfTERRA is a shorter form (~200 nt) of cellular TERRA and copurifies with CD63- and CD81-positive exosome vesicles that could be visualized by cyro-electron microscopy. These fractions were also enriched for histone proteins that physically associate with TERRA in extracellular ChIP assays. Incubation of cfTERRA- containing exosomes with peripheral blood mononuclear cells stimulated transcription of several inflammatory cytokine genes, including TNFa, IL6, and C-X-C chemokine 10 (CXCL10) Exosomes engineered with elevated TERRA or liposomes with synthetic TERRA further stimulated inflammatory cytokines, suggesting that exosome-associated TERRA augments innate immune signaling. These findings imply a previously unidentified extrinsic function for TERRA and a mechanism of communication between telomeres and innate immune signals in tissue and tumor microenvironments.

## 2.2 Significance statement

Loss of telomere repeats leads to cellular senescence and the secretion of inflammatory cytokines. How telomere dysfunction is linked to this inflammatory phenotype and its role in aging and cancer is not yet understood. We show here that noncoding telomere RNA transcripts [telomeric repeat-containing RNA (TERRA)] are secreted into the extracellular environment in exosome vesicle fractions. This cell-free TERRA (cfTERRA) is shorter and more stable than intracellular TERRA, is associated with histone proteins, and can induce inflammatory cytokines in responsive cells. These findings suggest that TERRA can have a cell extrinsic function and provide a mechanism through which telomere dysfunction can lead to the activation of inflammatory cytokine signals in the tissue microenvironment through the signaling capacity of cfTERRA.

# **2.3 Introduction**

Telomeres are the repetitive and dynamic DNA structures that play a critical role in controlling cellular replicative capacity and cancer suppression (1) (2). Human telomeric DNA contains 4- to 15-kb double-stranded DNA with a sequence of TTAGGG repeats that are bound by a telomere-specific protein complex, referred to as shelterin (3). Telomere repeats are lost by attrition during DNA replication due to the end-replication problem, and critically short telomeres elicit a DNA damage-associated cell cycle arrest and replicative senescence (3) (4). Telomere repeat loss is thought to be part of a somatic cell senescence program that restricts cellular proliferation and regulates tissue homeostasis. Specialized telomere elongation mechanisms, including activation of the

reverse transcriptase telomerase or alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALTs) through recombination, can overcome telomere repeat loss-induced cellular senescence. Telomere dysfunction occurs when abnormally short telomeres fail to induce senescence and is an early hallmark of human cancer. Cells with telomere dysfunction are also known to secrete distinct types of inflammatory cytokines (5) (6), but how telomeres are linked to this phenotype is not well characterized.

Telomere repeat DNA can be transcribed in response to developmental changes and cellular stress conditions (7) (8). Telomeric repeat-containing RNA (TERRA) has been implicated in telomere length regulation and DNA damage signaling (9) (10). TERRA can be found in complexes containing nuclear proteins, including hnRNP1, Pot1, RPA, and HP1 (11) (12), and forms stable RNA-DNA hybrids at telomeres (13) (14). TERRA may also form foci in cells that can colocalize with the inactive X chromosome (15) (16) or form aggregates in some cancer cells and tissues (17). TERRA can also form highly stable G-quadruplex structures (18), and these structures have been implicated in telomere length regulation (19). Whether TERRA has additional functions distinct from telomere end regulation is not yet known.

Structured nucleic acids, like TERRA, can have potent effects on innate immune sensing pathways (20). Extracellular forms of repetitive DNA fragments, including telomeric DNA, have been shown to modulate inflammatory cytokine production (21). Furthermore, cell-free nucleic acids can be used as biomarkers for various diseases, including autoimmunity and cancer (22). Cell-free nucleic acid has been identified in stable protein complexes, as well as encapsulated in microvesicles and exosomes (23) (24) (25). Exosomes are small (50–100 nm) vesicles that carry a unique composition of proteins (26), lipids (27), mRNA (28), and miRNA (29). Exosomes form in the endosomal multivesicular bodies of the cytoplasm of various cell types and are secreted into body fluids, including blood plasma (30). Depending on their cellular origin and conditions, exosomes exhibit differential enrichment of components, allowing for specialized functions. Exosomes have been implicated in regulation of the immune response (31), gene expression by transmission of miRNA (32), and pathogen spreading (33). Tumor-derived exosomes promote tumor progression at many levels, either by suppressing antitumor immune responses (34) or by incorporating oncogenic materials (35). Whether telomeres and their derived RNA are involved in intercellular communication through exosome transport has not been studied.

Here, we report the identification of a previously unidentified, small form of TERRA found in the cell-free environment of mouse normal and tumor tissue, human blood plasma, and cell culture medium. This cell-free TERRA (cfTERRA) was highly enriched in exosome fractions that also induced transcription of inflammatory cytokines. These findings reveal a previously unrecognized extracellular localization of TERRA and provide a molecular mechanism through which telomere dysfunction may impact the tissue microenvironment.

#### 2.4 Results

# 2.4.1 Identification of cfTERRA in the fraction of exosomes

In a previous study (17), we observed that TERRA formed discrete foci in the nuclear compartment of highly proliferating cells in mouse embryonic cerebellum and brain tumors. We now report that a significant number of TERRA foci localize outside of the nuclear and cellular compartments in tissue sections of a mouse model of medulloblastoma (Fig. 2.1A, Left), as well as in developing embryonic brain (Fig. 2.1A, Right). Many of these foci were sensitive to RNase treatment, indicating they are mostly telomeric RNA and not DNA fragments (Fig. 2.1A, Lower). We also observed TERRA foci forming outside of nuclear compartments in human tissue culture cells, especially in serum-starved human lymphoblastoid cell lines (LCLs) (Fig. 2.1B). Consistent with this, we found that serum-starved LCLs produced higher levels of a shorter form of TERRA (Fig. 2.3A and B). We next asked whether TERRA RNA could be detected in RNA-seq analyses from cell-free RNA derived from plasma samples of normal or cancer patients (Fig. 2.1C). TERRA RNA, as defined by a least six telomere repeats, was detected at relatively high abundance in all samples. RNA with 2 or 3 UUAGGG-repeats were found at much lower read counts, suggesting that most TERRA RNA was derived from longer repeat transcripts (Table 1). While no significant differences between cancer and normal patients were found, read counts for TERRA ranked in the top 20 most frequent transcripts for all RNA-seq reads of extracellular RNA (Fig. 2.1C). These findings indicate that extracellular TERRA is a relatively abundant component of the cell free RNA from human blood plasma.

To investigate the possibility that TERRA was exported to the extracellular compartment, we isolated the microvesicle and exosomal fractions from LCL culture media using differential centrifugation (Fig. 2.2A). We then assayed the total cellular RNA, cellular debris, microvesicle fraction, and exosome fractions for TERRA RNA by Northern blot (Fig. 2.2B). We found that a smaller form of TERRA migrating at ~200 nt was highly enriched in the exosome fraction. Identical forms of TERRA were identified when exosomes were isolate by ultrafiltration or exosome precipitation reagent (Fig. 2.3C and D). Quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR) with primers situated close (<300 nt) to the subtelomere-telomere junction showed enrichment in exosome fractions relative to total cellular TERRA (Fig. 2.4). Similar forms of TERRA could be isolated from different cell types, although LCLs produced the highest amounts among the cells tested (Fig. 2.5A). TERRA production correlated with higher levels of fast migrating CD63-positive exosomes (Fig. 2.5B) and did not correlate with cell death or apoptosis (Fig. 2.5C). This form of TERRA (referred to as cfTERRA) was partly resistant to RNase A treatment, forming a diffuse and slower migrating signal on Northern blot (Fig. 2.2B). We did not detect any antisense TERRA, suggesting that this is mostly G-rich single-stranded RNA. The control 18S probe identified 18S RNA in cellular debris and microvesicles, but not in the exosome fraction. These results indicate that cfTERRA is enriched in exosome-like fractions from human LCLs.



Figure 2.1 Identification of TERRA signals in mouse tissue and human plasma. (A) RNA-FISH analysis of TERRA expression on mouse medulloblastoma tumor (Left) and embryonic E14.5 brain tissue sections by confocal microscopy. TERRA was stained with (CCCTAA)<sub>3</sub> PNA probe in red, and nuclei were counterstained with DAPI in blue on mouse medulloblastoma tissue (Left) or cerebral cortex section of E14.5 WT mouse embryo (Right). Cortical plate (CP) and ventricular Zone (VZ) are indicated. RNase A treatment eliminates all signals of TERRA (Lower). Arrows indicate TERRA signals found outside of nuclei. Images were taken with  $40 \times \text{lens}$  at zoom 2. (B) TERRA foci were found outside of nuclei in human lymphoblastoid cell lines grown under normal serum (15%) or serum starved (0.5%) conditions for 24 h before fixation. (Right) Zoom image of the same LCL samples. (C) RNA-seq analysis of cell-free DNA from various normal and cancer blood plasma samples. TERRA (as defined by six tandem UUAGGG repeats) and its ranks in read counts relative to all other genes. Whisker plots demonstrate distribution of gene expression levels that had at least 10 aligned RNA-seq reads. Dots represent RPKM values for the top 20 expressed genes. Among those, highlighted are cfTERRA and 6 other known genes that appear in the top 20 genes across all samples the most.







**Figure 2.3 Growth arrest induces cfTERRA production in LCLs.** (A) Northern blot showing total cellular TERRA levels in LCLs grown in 15% or 0.5% serum for 24 h. (B) Northern blot showing total cellular TERRA or exosome fraction for cfTERRA in EREB LCLs with or without estradiol treatment required for EBV EBNA2 expression and cell proliferation. (C) Comparison of two exosomes isolation methods to purify cfTERRA complex. Exosomes were isolated from equal volume of LCL culture medium (10 mL) by either ultracentrifugation or exosomes isolation kit (Invitrogen). RNAs were isolated from 80% of recovered exosomes and analyzed for cfTERRA by Northern blotting. The remaining exosomes (20%) were assayed by Western blotting with CD63 antibody. (D) Comparison of the recovery of cfTERRA complex by filters with different molecular weight cutoff. Equal amount of exsomes was loaded on the centrifugal filters with either 50- or 100-kDa cutoff. RNA were isolated from either flow through (FT) or retention (RE), and analyzed for cfTERRA by Northern blotting. Proteins of each fraction were TCA precipitated and assayed by Western blotting with CD63 antibody.



Figure 2.4 Subtelomeric origins of cfTERRA. (A) qRT-PCR for quantification of subtelomere containing TERRA levels in 1  $\mu$ g of total RNA from LCL cells and exosomes. The subtelomere containing TERRA levels were determine using  $\Delta$ CT method relative to cellular internal control GAPDH. The distances of the primers to specific telomere track were indicated below.



**Figure 2.5 cfTERRA was released with different levels in other cell lines.** (A) Comparison of cfTERRA levels across several cell lines in exosomes. Exosomes were isolated from indicated cell lines by ultracentrifugation. RNAs were purified from exosomes with equal amount of proteins and analyzed for cfTERRA by Northern blotting. (B) Western blot analysis of exosomes as shown in A. Equal amount of exosomal proteins were analyzed by Western blotting with CD63, H3, or Actin antibodies. (C) Apoptosis analysis of cell lines used for exosome isolation. After 48-h culture of the indicated cell lines in conditional medium, cells were stained with FITC-Annexin V and PI and analyzed by flow cytometry. Flow cytometry profile present as FITC-Annexin V staining in the x axis and PI in the y axis. The number in the upper right quadrant represents the percentage of late apoptotic cells in each cell line.

#### 2.4.2 cfTERRA was protected by a structure with similar density as exosomes

To better characterize cfTERRA, we fractionated extracellular vesicles on sucrose gradients using tetraspanin CD63 as a marker for exosomes (36) (Fig. 2.6). We observed that cfTERRA cofractionated with the faster migrating form of CD63+ through the sucrose gradient centrifugation (Fig. 2.6 A and B). We examined these fractions by electron cryo-microscopy and observed that most of the spherical exosomes (red arrows) comigrated with cfTERRA and fast migrating CD63 in fraction 9 (density, 1.15 g/mL), along with some other membrane vesicles (green arrows). Although fraction 3 contained the slower mobility (and presumably glycosylated) form of CD63 typically associated with exosomes, there were few exosome structures and many large macromolecular complexes presumably of protein composition (blue arrows) in this fraction. To investigate whether cfTERRA was within exosomes, we compared the RNase sensitivity of cellular TERRA with exosome fraction of cfTERRA (Fig. 2.7). Although cellular TERRA was efficiently degraded by RNase mixture treatment, cfTERRA was protected from RNase activity when the exosome structure was intact. In contrast, purified cfTERRA from denatured exosomes were mostly degraded by RNase mixture treatment (Fig. 2.7B). Exosome fractions did not contain detectable amounts of control 18S RNA. These findings indicate that cfTERRA cofractionates with the nongylcosylated CD63+ exosome fraction where it remains resistant to RNase treatment either by encapsulation within the exosome or its association with other factors that copurify with exosomes.



Figure 2.6 cfTERRA co-purifies with exosomes. (A) Northern blot analysis of total cellular RNA (10 and 5  $\mu$ g) or RNA isolated from total exosome fractions from either fresh media or LCL extracellular media or exosomes that were fractionated on a continuous sucrose gradient (fractions 1–11) were probed for TERRA (Upper) or 18S RNA (Lower). (B) Western blot analysis of sucrose fractions (as shown in A) with CD63 antibody using nonreducing (Upper) or reducing (Lower) SDS/PAGE. The unmodified and glycosylated CD63 mobilities are shown as indicated. (C) Electron cryo-microscopy analysis of sucrose fractions 3 and 9. Exosomes are indicated with red arrows, whereas other vesicle structures are indicated with green arrows. The blue arrows indicate a presumed protein macromolecular complexes found in fraction 3. (Scale bars, 100 nm.)



**Figure 2.7 cfTERRA is protected by exosomes.** (A) Schematic of RNase protection assay used in B. Exosomes were treated with or without RNase mixture (Protected Exo-RNA) or exosome RNA was first isolated and then treated with or without RNase mixture (Exo-RNA). (B) Northern blot of RNA isolated from LCLs or LCL-derived exosomes. Exosomes were pretreated without (–) or with (+) RNase mixture before RNA isolation (Protected Exo-RNA) or treated after RNA isolation (Exo-RNA) and cellular RNA. The isolated RNA was analyzed by Northern blotting and hybridized with <sup>32</sup>P-labeled probes for TERRA or 18S RNA as indicated.

#### 2.4.3 cfTERRA Is bound by histones in exosome fraction

Sucrose gradient fractions enriched in TERRA (fraction 9) and CD63 were analyzed by silver staining of SDS/PAGE and then by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) to identify the protein composition (Fig. 2.8A and B, Fig. 2.10, and Dataset S1). MS revealed histories and ribosomal proteins, as well as many known exosome components (Fig. 2.10), including CD81, CD20, and annexin A1 (37) (Fig. 2.8B). Western blot confirmed the enriched levels of histore H3 and H4, as well as CD81, CD63, and LMP1 in the sucrose fractions containing TERRA (Fig. 2.8C). To determine whether cfTERRA is associated with any of the protein components of the exosome fraction, we performed immunoprecipitation assays on these exosomes (Fig. 2.9). We found exosome-associated TERRA could be immunopurified with antibodies to exosome membrane constituents CD81 and to a lesser extent with CD63. TERRA could also be detected in immunoprecipitation (IP) with H3 antibody, suggesting some cfTERRA may associate with chromatin components outside of exosomes (Fig. 2.9 B and C). Exosome-associated TERRA was detected at higher levels than 18S RNA relative to total cellular amounts, suggesting that TERRA is selectively enriched in exosomes in LCLs.

To determine whether TERRA was physically associated with any protein constituents found in exosome fractions, we performed extracellular ChIP (Exo RNA-ChIP) assays using formaldehyde cross-linking before exosome lysis (Fig. 2.11A). We found that TERRA was significantly enriched in histone H3 Exo RNA-ChIP and to a much lesser extent with TRF2 (Fig. 2.11 B and C). In contrast, 18S RNA was enriched with S6 and

H3 cellular RNA-ChIP, but not detectable in Exo RNA-ChIP. We also performed Exo DNA-ChIP on total extracellular fractions (Fig. 2.12). We found that telomere repeat DNA (both sense and antisense) could be detected in both H3 and TRF2 Exo DNA-ChIPs, whereas  $\alpha$ -satellite DNA was enriched only in the H3 ChIP (Fig. 2.12 B and C). These findings indicate that chromatin-associated DNA fragments enriched with telomeric and  $\alpha$ -satellite DNA fragments can be found in extracellular fractions.



**Figure 2.8 cfTERRA is associated with exosomes.** (A) Sucrose fractions collected in Fig. 2.6 were assayed by SDS/PAGE and visualized by silver staining. Molecular weight of the marker was indicated on the left in kilodaltons. (B) Summary of LC/MS/MS data from sucrose fractions F8 and F9. Proteins identified by MS from the major categories of histone, ribosomal protein, or exosome component are shown. Percent coverage and unique peptide counts are indicated. Full list of MS identified peptides is provided in Table 2. (C) Western blotting of sucrose factions using antibodies specific for CD31, CD81, CD63, LMP1, S6, histone H4, and H3 antibodies.



**Figure 2.9 cfTERRA is more associated with CD81-positive exosomes.** (A) Schema of exosome immunoprecipitation and RNA isolation method used in B and C. (B) Exo RNA IP using antibodies to CD63 (TS63), CD63 (H5C6), CD81, CD31, S6, H3, or control IgG. Isolated RNA was then assayed by dot blotting with TERRA or 18S-specific probes. (C) Quantification of three independent replicates of Exo RNA IP as represented in B. Error bars, SD.



**Figure 2.10 Functional enrichment analysis of proteins identified by LC-MS/MS.** (A) The Venn diagram shows 201 proteins of the top 250 proteins identified in LCL exosomes (Exo\_LCL) overlap with that found in 12 other studies of exosome proteins in the Vesiclepedia database. (B) Enrichment of cellular component for LCL exosomes (Exo\_LCL). The percentages of genes that function in different cellular components are shown of the top 250 proteins identified by LC-MS/MS.



Figure 2.11 cfTERRA is associated with histones. (A) Schema of Exo RNA ChIP assay. (B) RNA ChIP assays were performed with exosomes (Exo) or cellular (Cell) LCLs using antibodies specific for CD63, S6, H3, TRF2, or control IgG. Isolated RNA was treated with either mock (–) or RNase A and then assayed by hybridization with probes for TERRA, TERRA-antisense, EBER1, or 18S, as indicated. (C) Quantification of at least three independent TERRA RNA ChIP assays, a representative shown in B. Bar graphs represent mean values with SDs. P values were calculated by two-tailed Student t test: \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01.



**Figure 2.12 Exosomes contain chromatin-associated DNA.** (A) Schema for Exo DNA ChIP assays. (B) DNA dot blots for Exo DNA ChIP assays. ChIP was performed with antibodies to CD63, S6, H3, TRF2, or control IgG. (C) Quantification of three independent DNA ChIP assays for telomeric DNA from exosomes (red) or cells (black). Bar graphs represent mean values with SDs. P values were calculated by two-tailed Student t test: \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01.

# **2.4.4 cfTERRA modulates the transcription of inflammatory cytokines in recipient cells**

Exosomes have been implicated in various types of intercellular communications, including the modulation of inflammatory cytokines and the innate immune signaling (38). We therefore tested whether exosomes from LCLs enriched with cfTERRA could induce transcription for various cytokines and chemokines. We found that cfTERRAenriched exosome fractions efficiently induced transcription of several cytokines, including IL6, TNFa, GMCSF, and C-X-C chemokine 10 (CXCL10) (Fig. 2.13 and Fig. 2.16A). To determine whether cfTERRA levels in exosomes correlated with cytokine activation, we isolated exosomes from cells engineered to produce elevated TERRA levels (Fig. 2.14A). Exosomes were isolated from HCT116 cells transduced with ectopic TRF1( $\Delta N$ ) or TRF1( $\Delta N$ ) fused to the transcription activation domain of VP16 [VP16-TRF1( $\Delta N$ )]. We validated by Northern blot that VP16-TRF1( $\Delta N$ ) induced high levels of cellular and exosome-associated TERRA relative to vector and TRF1 $\Delta$ N only (Fig. 2.14B), suggesting TERRA was induced by the VP16 domain instead of ectopic expression of TRF1( $\Delta N$ ). Although some 18S RNA was detected in exosomes from vector control samples, no 18S was detected in TRF1( $\Delta N$ ) or VP16-TRF1( $\Delta N$ ), and U1 RNA was not detected in any exosome fraction (Fig. 2.14B). Protein levels of cellular TRF1 and exosomal CD63 were monitored by Western blot (Fig. 2.14C). Exosomes normalized by CD63 expression levels were then incubated with peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and assayed for cytokine induction (Fig. 2.14D). We found that exosomes from VP16-TRF1ΔN containing the highest levels of cfTERRA induced the highest levels of cytokine mRNA, including IL6, TNF $\alpha$ , and CXCL10 while having

no significant effect on control GUSB mRNA levels (Fig. 2.14D and Fig. 2.16B). To determine whether TERRA alone is capable of stimulating inflammatory cytokine transcription on recipient cells, we expressed and purified sense or antisense TERRA-containing RNA transcripts, as well as equimolar U6 transcripts, and delivered these in liposomes to either PBMCs (Fig. 2.17A) or IMR90 fibroblasts (Fig. 2.15 A and B). We found that synthetic TERRA-containing liposomes selectively stimulated IL6, CXCL10, and TNFa in IMR90 cells (Fig. 2.15B) and to a lesser extent in PBMCs (Fig. 2.17A). We also found that short synthetic oligonucleotides (36 bp) containing TERRA could partially induce some cytokine production, although not fully recapitulating endogenous exosomes (Fig. 2.17B). Taken together, these findings suggest that exosome-associated cfTERRA may function to modulate cytokine production in recipient cells.



Figure 2.13 TERRA-containing exosomes stimulate inflammatory cytokines. (A) RNA dot blot analysis of sucrose gradient fractionation of LCL-derived exosomes probed for TERRA (Upper), TERRA antisense, 18S rRNA, or alpha-satellite RNA (Lower). (B) Total exosomes (input) or sucrose gradient fractions were incubated with PBMCs for 3 h and then assayed by qRT-PCR for expression of IL6, TNF $\alpha$ , GM-CSF, CXCL10, or control GUSB mRNA. Bar graphs represent qRT-PCR values relative to gapdh mRNA (mean ± SD) from three independent experiments.



Figure 2.14 Inducing TERRA levels in exosomes promotes inflammatory cytokine expression. (A) Schema of VP16-TRF1( $\Delta$ N) activation of TERRA. (B) RNA dot blot for TERRA, 18S, or U1 RNA from HCT116 cells (Left) or exosomes (Right) transduced with vector, TRF1( $\Delta$ N), or VP16-TRF1( $\Delta$ N). (C) HCT116 cells transduced as in B were assayed by Western blot for CD63, TRF1, FLAG, and Actin. (D) qRT-PCR for expression of IL6, TNF $\alpha$ , CXCL10, or control GUSB mRNA for PBMCs treated with exosomes derived from HCT116 cells transduced with vector control (green), TRF1( $\Delta$ N) (red), VP16-TRF1( $\Delta$ N) (purple), or PBS control (black).



Figure 2.15 TERRA-mimic liposomes stimulate inflammatory cytokines. (A) Northern blot of in vitro transcribed TelG, TelC, or U6 RNA treated with control or RNaseA and probed for TERRA (Left), TERRA antisense (Center), or U6 (Right). (H) IMR90 cells were treated with liposomes containing TelG or TelC RNA for 24 h and then assayed by qRT-PCR for IL6, TNF $\alpha$ , CXCL10, or control GUSB mRNA. Bar graphs represent qRT-PCR values relative to gapdh mRNA (mean  $\pm$  SD) from three independent experiments.



Figure 2.16 Exosome-associated TERRA stimulates inflammatory cytokines. (A) Experiments described in Fig. 2.13B where sucrose fractions from LCL exosomes were used to treat PBMCs and then assayed for induction of cytokine gene transcription, including mRNA for IL1B, MCP1, MMP1, IFN $\alpha$ , and IFN $\beta$ 1. (B) Experiments described in Fig. 2.14 C–E include addition cytokine genes IL1B, MCP1, MMP1, IFN $\alpha$ , and IFN $\beta$ 1.



Figure 2.17 Additional cytokine expression profile stimulated by TERRA-mimic liposomes (A) In vitro transcribed U6 RNA is shown by Northern blot in undiluted and diluted amounts used for molar comparison with TelG or TelC as shown in Fig. 2.15 G and H. (B) PBMCs treated with liposomes containing mock, U6, TelG or TelC in vitro transcribed RNA were assayed by qRT-PCR for activation of cytokines IL6, TNF $\alpha$ , CXCL10, GM-CSF, or control GUSB.



**Figure 2.18 Synthetic TERRA stimulates cytokine production.** Synthetic 36-nt RNA oligonucleotides for TERRA (TelG), antisense TERRA (TelC), or control (CACUGA)6 were delivered in liposomes to PBMCs and assayed for IL6, TNFα, CXCL10, GM-CSF, or control GUSB mRNA expression.

# **2.5 Discussion**

Telomeres have been implicated in the cell intrinsic regulation of senescence (39), as well as in more complex functions, including tissue homeostasis (40) and organismal aging (41). Telomere-associated changes are known to occur in cancerous and precancerous lesions (42), and many of these lesions are known to have a senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) that can drive carcinogenesis (43). Cells with short telomeres produce a distinct pattern of cytokines that has been referred to as a telomere-associated secretory phenotype (TASP), which is distinct from SASP (5) (44). The mechanism through which telomere dysfunction produces extracellular signals relevant to tissue microenvironment, inflammation, and cancer is not completely understood.

Here, we demonstrate that TERRA-derived RNA fragments can be found in the extracellular fraction of mouse tumor and normal embryonic tissue, human blood plasma, and human cell lines in culture. cfTERRA from human LCLs copurified with CD63+ and CD81+ exosome fractions and coprecipitated with histone H3, suggesting that cfTERRA forms a chromosomal-like ribonucleoprotein particle within or associated with exosomes. We showed that exosome fractions enriched in cfTERRA induced inflammatory cytokines from human PBMCs. We also found that synthetic TERRA could induce a similar inflammatory response in human fibroblasts. We conclude that cfTERRA is a component of exosome fractions that can modulate the inflammatory response.

#### 2.5.1 TERRA is deregulated in cancer and stress response.

TERRA expression can be regulated by developmental and stress-related signals, including DNA damage and viral infection (45) (46) (47). Telomere shortening may also increase TERRA expression (48), but it is not clear that senescent cells show a global increase in TERRA levels. We found that TERRA can be enriched in some cancer tissues (7) and is highly induced in cells after infection by herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV1) (47). TERRA has been shown to have several functions at telomeres, including recruitment of telomerase (48), inhibition of telomerase (49), assembly of DNA damage repair proteins (50), and maintenance of telomeric heterochromatin (12). However, TERRA has not yet been implicated in TASP or other related telomere-extrinsic functions.

# 2.5.2 Telomeres and immunological response

Several lines of evidence suggest that telomeric events can impact the innate immune response and tissue microenvironment. Although telomere shortening and dysfunction can limit immunological function by restricting proliferation of immune cells, telomere shortening appears to also increase systemic inflammation, including that associated with lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and granulomatous diseases (51). Individuals with short telomeres in leukocytes were found to have elevated biomarkers for systemic inflammation (52). TERC–/– mice with shortened telomeres undergo immune inflammatory response in bone marrow macrophages due to a TLR4-depenent activation of IL6 and TNF $\alpha$  (53). Perhaps related is the finding that telomere shortening in aged human macrophages resulted in impaired STAT5 signaling (54). Telomere uncapping

was found to be associated with cellular senescence and inflammation in human arteries (55). Furthermore, malignant cells with elevated TRF2 levels had a decrease in natural killer (NK) cell infiltration in the tumor microenvironment (56). These findings suggest that telomeres contribute directly or indirectly to inflammatory signaling.

# 2.5.3 Immunological Effects of Telomere Repeat DNA.

Synthetic oligonucleotides containing CpG-DNA are known to be potent agonists of innate immunity through activation of Toll-like receptors (TLRs) (57). This activity is thought to reflect the innate immune response to foreign viral and bacterial DNA. Interestingly, synthetic telomere repeat DNA was found to suppress the production of cytokines induced by CpG DNA, as well as by other TLR agonists, including lipopolysaccharides (LPSs) (58) and various polyclonal activators (21) (59). Molecular targets for TTAGGG-repeat oligonucleotides have included STAT1 and STAT4 (60) and the lupus autoantigen Ku (61). Additionally, native DNA from telomerase-deficient mice had reduced capacity to inhibit inflammation compared to that of the control DNA (62), supporting the hypothesis that telomere-rich DNA is immunomodulatory. There have been fewer studies on the immunological effects of telomeric RNAs. However, a recent report showed that telomere RNA forming G-quadruplex structures can induce global changes in gene expression, including suppression of innate immune sensing genes (63).

#### 2.5.4 Components of the exosome code

The complex combination of factors that comprise exosomes and the type of recipient cells that sense the exosomes may determine the nature of the signal and response. Specific signaling through exosomes depends on the cell source of the exosomes, as well as the recipient cell receptors. Exosome coding information is provided by the lipid, protein, and nucleic acid composition. Although we did not detect full-length TERRA molecules in exosomes, the smaller processed forms of TERRA are highly enriched in exosomes from various cell types, especially LCLs (Fig. 2.5). This smaller, processed form of TERRA was also found to be associated with histones, which were also a major protein component of the inflammatory exosome fraction from human LCLs. Although exosomes containing higher levels of TERRA elicited greater cytokine response and purified TERRA molecules can stimulate cytokines, it is not yet clear whether the endogenous cfTERRA in exosomes is the primary immunomodulator in these microvesicles. Nevertheless, we propose that processed cfTERRA associated with histones constitutes an important telomere-derived component of inflammatory exosomes with potential to modulate signaling capacity. Thus, cfTERRA may constitute an important component of a complex, yet incompletely understood exosome code.

# 2.6 Tables

Sample	5/6 reps	2 rep at 5'/3'	% of 5/6	unique	full.gen	part.gen	part.sub
Normal 1	1177	21	1.8%	13	7	8	8
Normal 2	957	32	3.3%	22	13	17	17
Breast 1	672	14	2.1%	14	9	11	11
Breast 2	1189	29	2.4%	25	19	20	20
Colon 1	893	17	1.9%	16	9	9	9
Colon 2	1001	22	2.2%	15	7	8	8
Duct	1951	24	1.2%	21	10	13	13
Kidney 1	728	18	2.5%	11	5	6	6
Kidney 2	704	27	3.8%	19	10	12	12
Liver 1	1129	14	1.2%	14	4	6	6
Liver 2	2094	18	0.9%	15	6	10	10
Lung 1	427	21	4.9%	18	12	13	13
Lung 2	846	25	3.0%	20	9	10	10
Melanoma 1	1743	23	1.3%	21	8	13	13
Melanoma 2	1829	33	1.8%	16	7	12	12
Ovarian 1	399	24	6.0%	22	12	14	14
Ovarian 2	2633	36	1.4%	20	8	9	9
Prostate 1	1128	17	1.5%	15	11	12	12
Prostate 2	328	15	4.6%	13	6	8	8
Stomach 1	783	28	3.6%	24	12	19	19
Stomach 2	789	23	2.9%	23	9	13	13

Table 1 RNA-seq analysis for TERRA

We searched all of the samples for reads with no more than two telomeric repeats at the 5' or 3' end of the read. Those full reads were then aligned against complete human genome and the number of reads mapped to unique sites are indicated (unique). The full counts data are presented in the table. 5/6 reps, number of reads with 5/6 telomeric repeats; 2 at 5'/3', total number of reads with two, but no more than two, telomeric repeats at the 3' or 5' end; % of 5/6, percent of two-repeat reads over 5/6 telomeric repeats; unique, number of unique reads (unique sequence) that had no more than two telomeric repeats.

Gene name	Primer sequences
GAPDH	Forward primer 5'-TGGGCTACACTGAGCACCAG-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-GGGTGTCGCTGTTGAAGTCA-3'
IL6	Forward primer 5'-CTTTTGGAGTTTGAGGTATACCTAG-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-GCTGCGCAGAATGAGATGAGTTGTC-3'
ΤΝFα	Forward primer 5'-CAGCCTCTTCTCCTTCCTGAT-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-GCCAGAGGGCTGATTAGAGA-3'
IL1β	Forward primer 5'-TCAGCCAATCTTCATTGCTCAA-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-TGGCGAGCTCAGGTACTTCTG-3'
CXCL10	Forward primer 5'-GAAAGCAGTTAGCAAGGAAAGGT-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-GACATATACTCCATGTAGGGAAGTGA-3'
GM-CSF	Forward primer 5'-TCTCAGAAATGTTTGACCTCCA-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-GCCCTTGAGCTTGGTGAG-3'
ΙΕΝα	Forward primer 5'-CCGTGCTGGTGCTCAGCTA-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-TGGGTCTGAGGCAGATCACA-3'
IFNβ1	Forward primer 5'-ACTGCCTCAAGGACAGGATG-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-AGCCAGGAGGTTCTCAACAA-3'
MCP1	Forward primer 5'-AGTCTCTGCCGCCCTTCT-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-GTGACTGGGGCATTGATTG-3'
MMP1	Forward primer 5'-GCTAACCTTTGATGCTATAACTACGA-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-TTTGTGCGCATGTAGAATCTG-3'
2q (234-293)	Forward primer 5'-GCCTTGCCTTGGGAGAATCT-3'
10q (396-455)	Reverse primer 5'-AAAGCGGGAAACGAAAAGC-3'
7p (770-831)	Forward primer 5'-GGAGGCTGAGGCAGGAGAA-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-CAATCTCGGCTCACCACAATC-3'
12q (352-419)	Forward primer 5'-ATTTCCCGTTTTCCACACTGA-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-CTGTTTGCAGCGCTGAATATTC-3'
13q (152-210)	Forward primer 5'-GCACTTGAACCCTGCAATACAG-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-CCTGCGCACCGAGATTCT-3'
17q (864-939)	Forward primer 5'-AGCTACCTCTCTCAACACCAAGAAG-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-GTCCATGCATTCTCCATTGATAAG-3'
17p (348-431)	Forward primer 5'-GGGACAGAAGTGGATAAGCTGATC-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-GATCCCACTGTTTTATTACTGTTCCT-3'
XqYq (109-162)	Forward primer 5'-CCCCTTGCCTTGGGAGAA-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-GAAAGCAAAAGCCCCTCTGA-3'
ХрҮр (243-311)	Forward primer 5'-CCACAACCCCACCAGAAAGA-3'
	Reverse primer 5'-GCGCGTCCGGAGTTTG-3'

# Table 2 List of oligonucleotides used for qRT-PCR and ChIP-qPCR

We thank Andreas Wiedmer for technical assistance, Harold C. Riethman for plasmids, and the Wistar Cancer Center Cores for Genomics and Proteomics. This work was supported by funding from National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute (NCI)

Grant CA RO1CA140652 (to P.M.L.), NCI Cancer Center Core Grant P30 CA10815,

and the Commonwealth Universal Research Enhancement Program, PA Department of

Health.

# 2.8 References

1. Blackburn, E. H., Greider, C. W., and Szostak, J. W. (2006) Telomeres and telomerase: the path from maize, Tetrahymena and yeast to human cancer and aging. *Nature medicine* **12**, 1133-1138

2. Cech, T. R. (2004) Beginning to understand the end of the chromosome. *Cell* **116**, 273-279

3. Palm, W., and de Lange, T. (2008) How shelterin protects mammalian telomeres. *Annual review of genetics* **42**, 301-334

4. O'Sullivan, R. J., and Karlseder, J. (2010) Telomeres: protecting chromosomes against genome instability. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **11**, 171-181

5. Braig, M., Pallmann, N., Preukschas, M., Steinemann, D., Hofmann, W., Gompf, A., Streichert, T., Braunschweig, T., Copland, M., Rudolph, K. L., Bokemeyer, C., Koschmieder, S., Schuppert, A., Balabanov, S., and Brummendorf, T. H. (2014) A 'telomere-associated secretory phenotype' cooperates with BCR-ABL to drive malignant proliferation of leukemic cells. *Leukemia* **28**, 2028-2039

6. Fumagalli, M., Rossiello, F., Clerici, M., Barozzi, S., Cittaro, D., Kaplunov, J. M., Bucci, G., Dobreva, M., Matti, V., Beausejour, C. M., Herbig, U., Longhese, M. P., and d'Adda di Fagagna, F. (2012) Telomeric DNA damage is irreparable and causes persistent DNA-damage-response activation. *Nature cell biology* **14**, 355-365

7. Schoeftner, S., and Blasco, M. A. (2008) Developmentally regulated transcription of mammalian telomeres by DNA-dependent RNA polymerase II. *Nature cell biology* **10**, 228-236

8. Azzalin, C. M., Reichenbach, P., Khoriauli, L., Giulotto, E., and Lingner, J. (2007) Telomeric repeat containing RNA and RNA surveillance factors at mammalian chromosome ends. *Science* **318**, 798-801

9. Azzalin, C. M., and Lingner, J. (2015) Telomere functions grounding on TERRA firma. *Trends in cell biology* **25**, 29-36

10. Maicher, A., Lockhart, A., and Luke, B. (2014) Breaking new ground: digging into TERRA function. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* **1839**, 387-394

11. Flynn, R. L., Centore, R. C., O'Sullivan, R. J., Rai, R., Tse, A., Songyang, Z., Chang, S., Karlseder, J., and Zou, L. (2011) TERRA and hnRNPA1 orchestrate an RPA-to-POT1 switch on telomeric single-stranded DNA. *Nature* **471**, 532-536

12. Deng, Z., Norseen, J., Wiedmer, A., Riethman, H., and Lieberman, P. M. (2009) TERRA RNA binding to TRF2 facilitates heterochromatin formation and ORC recruitment at telomeres. *Molecular cell* **35**, 403-413

13. Arora, R., Lee, Y., Wischnewski, H., Brun, C. M., Schwarz, T., and Azzalin, C. M. (2014) RNaseH1 regulates TERRA-telomeric DNA hybrids and telomere maintenance in ALT tumour cells. *Nature communications* **5**, 5220

14. Balk, B., Maicher, A., Dees, M., Klermund, J., Luke-Glaser, S., Bender, K., and Luke, B. (2013) Telomeric RNA-DNA hybrids affect telomere-length dynamics and senescence. *Nature structural & molecular biology* **20**, 1199-1205

15. Schoeftner, S., Blanco, R., Lopez de Silanes, I., Munoz, P., Gomez-Lopez, G., Flores, J. M., and Blasco, M. A. (2009) Telomere shortening relaxes X chromosome inactivation and forces global transcriptome alterations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**, 19393-19398

16. Zhang, L. F., Ogawa, Y., Ahn, J. Y., Namekawa, S. H., Silva, S. S., and Lee, J. T. (2009) Telomeric RNAs mark sex chromosomes in stem cells. *Genetics* **182**, 685-698

17. Deng, Z., Wang, Z., Xiang, C., Molczan, A., Baubet, V., Conejo-Garcia, J., Xu, X., Lieberman, P. M., and Dahmane, N. (2012) Formation of telomeric repeat-containing RNA (TERRA) foci in highly proliferating mouse cerebellar neuronal progenitors and medulloblastoma. *Journal of cell science* **125**, 4383-4394

18. Xu, Y., and Komiyama, M. (2012) Structure, function and targeting of human telomere RNA. *Methods* **57**, 100-105

19. Takahama, K., Takada, A., Tada, S., Shimizu, M., Sayama, K., Kurokawa, R., and Oyoshi, T. (2013) Regulation of telomere length by G-quadruplex telomere DNA- and TERRA-binding protein TLS/FUS. *Chemistry & biology* **20**, 341-350

20. Barbalat, R., Ewald, S. E., Mouchess, M. L., and Barton, G. M. (2011) Nucleic acid recognition by the innate immune system. *Annual review of immunology* **29**, 185-214

21. Gursel, I., Gursel, M., Yamada, H., Ishii, K. J., Takeshita, F., and Klinman, D. M. (2003) Repetitive elements in mammalian telomeres suppress bacterial DNA-induced immune activation. *Journal of immunology* **171**, 1393-1400

22. Mansour, H. (2014) Cell-free nucleic acids as noninvasive biomarkers for colorectal cancer detection. *Frontiers in genetics* **5**, 182

23. Thery, C., Zitvogel, L., and Amigorena, S. (2002) Exosomes: composition, biogenesis and function. *Nature reviews. Immunology* **2**, 569-579

24. Robbins, P. D., and Morelli, A. E. (2014) Regulation of immune responses by extracellular vesicles. *Nature reviews. Immunology* **14**, 195-208

25. Thery, C. (2011) Exosomes: secreted vesicles and intercellular communications. *F1000 biology reports* **3**, 15

26. Ji, H., Greening, D. W., Barnes, T. W., Lim, J. W., Tauro, B. J., Rai, A., Xu, R., Adda, C., Mathivanan, S., Zhao, W., Xue, Y., Xu, T., Zhu, H. J., and Simpson, R. J. (2013) Proteome profiling of exosomes derived from human primary and metastatic
colorectal cancer cells reveal differential expression of key metastatic factors and signal transduction components. *Proteomics* **13**, 1672-1686

27. Laulagnier, K., Motta, C., Hamdi, S., Roy, S., Fauvelle, F., Pageaux, J. F., Kobayashi, T., Salles, J. P., Perret, B., Bonnerot, C., and Record, M. (2004) Mast celland dendritic cell-derived exosomes display a specific lipid composition and an unusual membrane organization. *The Biochemical journal* **380**, 161-171

28. Tomasoni, S., Longaretti, L., Rota, C., Morigi, M., Conti, S., Gotti, E., Capelli, C., Introna, M., Remuzzi, G., and Benigni, A. (2013) Transfer of growth factor receptor mRNA via exosomes unravels the regenerative effect of mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem cells and development* **22**, 772-780

29. Valadi, H., Ekstrom, K., Bossios, A., Sjostrand, M., Lee, J. J., and Lotvall, J. O. (2007) Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. *Nature cell biology* **9**, 654-659

30. Denzer, K., Kleijmeer, M. J., Heijnen, H. F., Stoorvogel, W., and Geuze, H. J. (2000) Exosome: from internal vesicle of the multivesicular body to intercellular signaling device. *Journal of cell science* **113 Pt 19**, 3365-3374

31. Thery, C., Ostrowski, M., and Segura, E. (2009) Membrane vesicles as conveyors of immune responses. *Nature reviews. Immunology* **9**, 581-593

32. Umezu, T., Ohyashiki, K., Kuroda, M., and Ohyashiki, J. H. (2013) Leukemia cell to endothelial cell communication via exosomal miRNAs. *Oncogene* **32**, 2747-2755

33. Dreux, M., Garaigorta, U., Boyd, B., Decembre, E., Chung, J., Whitten-Bauer, C., Wieland, S., and Chisari, F. V. (2012) Short-range exosomal transfer of viral RNA from infected cells to plasmacytoid dendritic cells triggers innate immunity. *Cell host & microbe* **12**, 558-570

34. Lundholm, M., Schroder, M., Nagaeva, O., Baranov, V., Widmark, A., Mincheva-Nilsson, L., and Wikstrom, P. (2014) Prostate tumor-derived exosomes down-regulate NKG2D expression on natural killer cells and CD8+ T cells: mechanism of immune evasion. *PloS one* **9**, e108925

35. Atay, S., Banskota, S., Crow, J., Sethi, G., Rink, L., and Godwin, A. K. (2014) Oncogenic KIT-containing exosomes increase gastrointestinal stromal tumor cell invasion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **111**, 711-716

36. Caby, M. P., Lankar, D., Vincendeau-Scherrer, C., Raposo, G., and Bonnerot, C. (2005) Exosomal-like vesicles are present in human blood plasma. *International immunology* **17**, 879-887

37. Verweij, F. J., van Eijndhoven, M. A., Hopmans, E. S., Vendrig, T., Wurdinger, T., Cahir-McFarland, E., Kieff, E., Geerts, D., van der Kant, R., Neefjes, J., Middeldorp, J. M., and Pegtel, D. M. (2011) LMP1 association with CD63 in endosomes and secretion via exosomes limits constitutive NF-kappaB activation. *The EMBO journal* **30**, 2115-2129

38. Beninson, L. A., and Fleshner, M. (2014) Exosomes: an emerging factor in stressinduced immunomodulation. *Seminars in immunology* **26**, 394-401

39. Suram, A., and Herbig, U. (2014) The replicometer is broken: telomeres activate cellular senescence in response to genotoxic stresses. *Aging cell* **13**, 780-786

40. Armanios, M., and Blackburn, E. H. (2012) The telomere syndromes. *Nature reviews. Genetics* **13**, 693-704

41. Falandry, C., Bonnefoy, M., Freyer, G., and Gilson, E. (2014) Biology of cancer and aging: a complex association with cellular senescence. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* **32**, 2604-2610

42. Reddel, R. R. (2014) Telomere maintenance mechanisms in cancer: clinical implications. *Current pharmaceutical design* **20**, 6361-6374

43. Velarde, M. C., Demaria, M., and Campisi, J. (2013) Senescent cells and their secretory phenotype as targets for cancer therapy. *Interdisciplinary topics in gerontology* **38**, 17-27

44. Coppe, J. P., Patil, C. K., Rodier, F., Sun, Y., Munoz, D. P., Goldstein, J., Nelson, P. S., Desprez, P. Y., and Campisi, J. (2008) Senescence-associated secretory phenotypes reveal cell-nonautonomous functions of oncogenic RAS and the p53 tumor suppressor. *PLoS biology* **6**, 2853-2868

45. Porro, A., Feuerhahn, S., Delafontaine, J., Riethman, H., Rougemont, J., and Lingner, J. (2014) Functional characterization of the TERRA transcriptome at damaged telomeres. *Nature communications* **5**, 5379

46. Caslini, C., Connelly, J. A., Serna, A., Broccoli, D., and Hess, J. L. (2009) MLL associates with telomeres and regulates telomeric repeat-containing RNA transcription. *Molecular and cellular biology* **29**, 4519-4526

47. Deng, Z., Kim, E. T., Vladimirova, O., Dheekollu, J., Wang, Z., Newhart, A., Liu, D., Myers, J. L., Hensley, S. E., Moffat, J., Janicki, S. M., Fraser, N. W., Knipe, D. M., Weitzman, M. D., and Lieberman, P. M. (2014) HSV-1 remodels host telomeres to facilitate viral replication. *Cell reports* **9**, 2263-2278

48. Cusanelli, E., Romero, C. A., and Chartrand, P. (2013) Telomeric noncoding RNA TERRA is induced by telomere shortening to nucleate telomerase molecules at short telomeres. *Molecular cell* **51**, 780-791

49. Schoeftner, S., and Blasco, M. A. (2010) Chromatin regulation and non-coding RNAs at mammalian telomeres. *Seminars in cell & developmental biology* **21**, 186-193

50. Porro, A., Feuerhahn, S., and Lingner, J. (2014) TERRA-reinforced association of LSD1 with MRE11 promotes processing of uncapped telomeres. *Cell reports* **6**, 765-776

51. Georgin-Lavialle, S., Aouba, A., Mouthon, L., Londono-Vallejo, J. A., Lepelletier, Y., Gabet, A. S., and Hermine, O. (2010) The telomere/telomerase system in autoimmune and systemic immune-mediated diseases. *Autoimmunity reviews* **9**, 646-651

52. Wong, J. Y., De Vivo, I., Lin, X., Fang, S. C., and Christiani, D. C. (2014) The relationship between inflammatory biomarkers and telomere length in an occupational prospective cohort study. *PloS one* **9**, e87348

53. Bhattacharjee, R. N., Banerjee, B., Akira, S., and Hande, M. P. (2010) Telomeremediated chromosomal instability triggers TLR4 induced inflammation and death in mice. *PloS one* **5**, e11873

54. Sebastian, C., Herrero, C., Serra, M., Lloberas, J., Blasco, M. A., and Celada, A. (2009) Telomere shortening and oxidative stress in aged macrophages results in impaired STAT5a phosphorylation. *Journal of immunology* **183**, 2356-2364

55. Morgan, R. G., Ives, S. J., Lesniewski, L. A., Cawthon, R. M., Andtbacka, R. H., Noyes, R. D., Richardson, R. S., and Donato, A. J. (2013) Age-related telomere uncapping is associated with cellular senescence and inflammation independent of telomere shortening in human arteries. *American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology* **305**, H251-258

56. Biroccio, A., Cherfils-Vicini, J., Augereau, A., Pinte, S., Bauwens, S., Ye, J., Simonet, T., Horard, B., Jamet, K., Cervera, L., Mendez-Bermudez, A., Poncet, D., Grataroli, R., de Rodenbeeke, C. T., Salvati, E., Rizzo, A., Zizza, P., Ricoul, M., Cognet, C., Kuilman, T., Duret, H., Lepinasse, F., Marvel, J., Verhoeyen, E., Cosset, F. L., Peeper, D., Smyth, M. J., Londono-Vallejo, A., Sabatier, L., Picco, V., Pages, G., Scoazec, J. Y., Stoppacciaro, A., Leonetti, C., Vivier, E., and Gilson, E. (2013) TRF2 inhibits a cell-extrinsic pathway through which natural killer cells eliminate cancer cells. *Nature cell biology* **15**, 818-828

57. Ishii, K. J., and Akira, S. (2006) Innate immune recognition of, and regulation by, DNA. *Trends in immunology* **27**, 525-532

58. Yagci, F. C., Aslan, O., Gursel, M., Tincer, G., Ozdamar, Y., Karatepe, K., Akcali, K. C., and Gursel, I. (2010) Mammalian telomeric DNA suppresses endotoxininduced uveitis. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **285**, 28806-28811

59. Lenert, P. S. (2010) Classification, mechanisms of action, and therapeutic applications of inhibitory oligonucleotides for Toll-like receptors (TLR) 7 and 9. *Mediators of inflammation* **2010**, 986596

60. Shirota, H., Gursel, M., and Klinman, D. M. (2004) Suppressive oligodeoxynucleotides inhibit Th1 differentiation by blocking IFN-gamma- and IL-12-mediated signaling. *Journal of immunology* **173**, 5002-5007

61. Bianchi, A., and de Lange, T. (1999) Ku binds telomeric DNA in vitro. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **274**, 21223-21227

62. Klinman, D. M., Tross, D., Klaschik, S., Shirota, H., and Sato, T. (2009) Therapeutic applications and mechanisms underlying the activity of immunosuppressive oligonucleotides. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **1175**, 80-88

63. Hirashima, K., and Seimiya, H. (2015) Telomeric repeat-containing RNA/Gquadruplex-forming sequences cause genome-wide alteration of gene expression in human cancer cells in vivo. *Nucleic acids research* **43**, 2022-2032 CHAPTER 3: The crosstalk of telomere dysfunction and inflammation through cellfree TERRA containing exosomes

Modified based on published manuscript:

Wang, Z., & Lieberman, P. M. (2016). The crosstalk of telomere dysfunction and inflammation through cell-free TERRA containing exosomes. RNA biology, 13(8), 690-695.

#### **3.1 Abstract**

Telomeric repeats-containing RNA (TERRA) are telomere-derived non-coding RNAs that contribute to telomere function in protecting chromosome ends. We recently identified a cell-free form of TERRA (cfTERRA) enriched in extracellular exosomes. These cfTERRA-containing exosomes stimulate inflammatory cytokines when incubated with immune responsive cells. Here, we report that cfTERRA levels were increased in exosomes during telomere dysfunction induced by the expression of the dominant negative TRF2. The exosomes from these damaged cells also enriched with DNA damage marker yH2AX and fragmented telomere repeat DNA. Purified cfTERRA stimulated inflammatory cytokines, but the intact membrane-associated nucleoprotein complexes produced a more robust cytokine activation. Therefore, we propose cfTERRA-containing exosomes transport a telomere-associated molecular pattern (TAMP) and telomere-specific alarmin from dysfunctional telomeres to the extracellular environment to elicit an inflammatory response. Since cfTERRA can be readily detected in human serum it may provide a useful biomarker for the detection of telomere dysfunction in the early stage of cancers and aging-associated inflammatory disease.

## **3.2 Introduction**

Telomeres are repetitive DNA elements that protect the ends of linear chromosomes from catastrophic damage(1). Telomeric repeats are assembled into a dynamic nucleoprotein complex, collectively termed Shelterin, which regulates telomere repeat length, stability, and function(2). As cells divide and age, telomere repeat DNA shortens by attrition due

to the end-replication problem. Excessive cell divisions or replication stress can lead to critically short telomeres incapable of forming a functional Shelterin complex. These uncapped telomeres elicit a DNA damage response and cell cycle arrest(3). In stem cells and most cancer cells, the telomere repeats are restored by the telomere-specific reverse transcriptase Telomerase(4). In the absence of Telomerase, these dysfunctional telomeres induce cellular senescence and drive the process of organismal aging(5). Programmed senescence is an important control on tissue homeostasis and an innate barrier to cellular immortalization and carcinogenesis (6). However, excessive or premature senescence can induce a pathogenic tissue microenvironment due to secretion of inflammatory molecules (7). This senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) is characterized by the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and proteases (8). However, the molecular mechanisms driving SASP are not well-understood. A recent study described a 'telomere-associated secretory phenotype' (TASP) (9), which produces a distinct inflammatory pattern associated with pre-shortened telomeres, suggesting that telomere dysfunction may be directly linked to senescence-associated inflammation.

Telomere uncapping can result in the increase production of telomeric repeats-containing RNA (TERRA) (10,11). TERRA is a heterogeneous ensemble of non-coding RNAs generated from multiple different telomeres, and comprises 100 to 9,000 bases of telomere repeats in mammals (12). Due to the unique G-rich sequence, TERRA is folded into G-quadruplex structure to interact with numerous proteins that regulate telomere maintenance (13). We previously found that TERRA interacts with shelterin TRF2 and promotes telomeric heterochromatin formation by mediating the interaction of TRF2 and

ORC (14). Others have found that TERRA can inhibit telomerase, bind to hnRNPA and MRE11, and form stable RNA-DNA hybrid R-loops at telomeres (15,16). Elevated TERRA levels also correlate with the alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT) phenotype (17,18), and chromosome instability syndromes linked to deficiencies in DNMT3b-associated DNA methylation (19). Whether TERRA also participates in telomere-associated inflammatory secretion was not known.

Recently, we found a cell-free form of TERRA (cfTERRA) that constituted a nucleoprotein component of extracellular microvesicular exosomes in cancer cell culture and human blood plasma (20). These cfTERRA-containing exosomes were strong inducers of inflammatory cytokines in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). We also demonstrated that synthetic TERRA was able to stimulate inflammatory cytokines when delivered by liposomes. Here, we describe recent advances in the role of TERRA during telomere dysfunction, and discuss how cfTERRA may mediate the crosstalk between telomere dysfunction and inflammation.

### **3.3 Results and Discussion**

## 3.3.1 TERRA is highly enriched in human exosomes

TERRA levels increase in response to telomere uncapping (10). To recapitulate telomere uncapping in cell culture models, we expressed TRF2<sup>WT</sup> or the dominant negative form of TRF2, TRF2<sup> $\Delta B\Delta M$ </sup>, shown previously to form telomere-specific DNA damage (21). We compared protein and RNA levels in cellular and exosomal fractions after BJ-hTERT

cells were transduced with either vector, TRF2, or TRF2<sup> $\Delta B\Delta M$ </sup> expressing lentivirus infection (Figure 3.1). As expected, TRF2 proteins were exclusively associated with cellular fractions and not enriched in exosomes, while CD63, a marker for exosomes, was found exclusively associated with exosome fractions (Figure 3.1A). Interestingly, DNA damage marker yH2AX was modestly enriched in the exosome fractions of the TRF2<sup> $\Delta$ BAM</sup> transduced cells (Figure 3.1A, lower panel). Total cellular TERRA levels were measured by Northern blot (Figure 3.1B). We found that cells transduced with TRF2<sup> $\Delta B\Delta M$ </sup> expressed elevated levels of TERRA (Figure 3.1B), consistent with previous reports showing elevated TERRA after TRF2 depletion (10). We previously demonstrated that exosomal TERRA is smaller than cellular TERRA, and is associated with a small percentage of telomeric DNA and histone protein components (20). Using identical extraction methods described previously, we measured exosome-associated TERRA by dot blot (Figure 3.1C). We found high levels of TERRA in all exosome fractions relative to cellular levels and compared to 18S RNA. In contrast, Alu transcripts were found at similar levels in cellular and exosome fractions, indicating that they are not selectively enriched in these exosomes (Figure 3.1C, lower panel). Cells expressing TRF2<sup> $\Delta B\Delta M$ </sup> showed a modest increase in cellular and exosomal TERRA levels, as well as trace amounts of anti-sense TERRA (Figure 3.1C). These findings indicate the dominant negative TRF2-associated telomere uncapping can induce cellular TERRA and increase the relative amount of TERRA and anti-sense TERRA in exosomes.



**Figure 3.1 Induction of cellular and cell-free TERRA by the dominant negative TRF2.** (A) Western blot analysis of lysates from BJ-hTERT cells (Cell) or purified exosomes (Exo). N-terminal FLAG tagged TRF2<sup>WT</sup> or TRF2<sup> $\Delta$ BAM</sup> were transduced into BJ-hTERT cells by lentiviral infection. Total protein lysates were collected from transduced cells or purified exosomes at 6 days post lentiviral infection. Western blotting was performed with equal amounts of total protein lysate (15µg) for each sample, using antibodies specific for FLAG (Sigma), Actin (Sigma), CD63 (Abcam), or **y**H2AX (Millipore). (B) Northern blot analysis of cellular TERRA in the transduced BJ-hTERT cells, as shown in (A). Isolated cellular RNA (10µg) was used for each sample, and hybridized with <sup>32</sup>P-labeled probes for TERRA, or 18S RNA as indicated. Numbers on the left show the position of RNA markers in base pairs. (C) RNA dot blot analysis of RNA isolated from BJ-hTERT cells (Cell) or purified exosomes (Exo), as shown in (A). Equal amounts of RNA (1µg) were assayed by dot blotting, and hybridized with probes for TERRA, TERRA-antisense, 18S, or Alu transcripts, as indicated.

#### 3.3.2 Inflammatory properties of exosomal TERRA

Exosomes from human lymphoblastoid cell lines (LCLs) were also found to have elevated levels of TERRA containing exosomes. We found that these exosomes also contain telomeric DNA that may form stable structures, including DNA-RNA hybrids with TERRA. Extraction of DNA or RNA from various fractionations across a density gradient centrifugation revealed that both telomere repeat-containing DNA and RNA could be isolated from exosome-containing fractions that peak in F9 and F10 (Figure 3.2A, top panels). G-rich strand DNA and RNA were enriched, but C-rich DNA could also be detected in fractions F9 and F10. We then tested whether either exosomes, or exosome-associated RNA or DNA could induce an inflammatory response when incubated with peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) (Figure 3.2B and C). Exosomes enriched with TERRA from F10 were found to induce the highest levels of IL6 and TNFa whereas no significant effect was caused in control GUSB mRNA levels (Figure 3.2D). Purified exosome F10-associated RNA containing highest levels of TERRA was found to partly induce IL6 and TNF $\alpha$ , while only trace activities could be found in the purified DNA fractions. Interestingly, others have found that purified telomeric DNA can inhibit innate immune response (22). These findings suggest that the RNA component from exosome is a more potent inflammatory molecule than telomeric DNA. However, neither RNA nor DNA was as active as the complete exosome fraction, suggesting that additional factors, or intact membrane-associated nucleoprotein complexes are required for robust activation of the inflammatory response.

Based on these data and our recently published study (20), we propose that telomereinduced stress leads to the upregulation of TERRA that is processed into smaller fragments and secreted in exosome-like vesicles. These TERRA containing exosomes are relatively stable and circulate in extracellular spaces, including blood and plasma. We have shown that the TERRA containing exosomes can induce a robust inflammatory response in human PBMCs leading to the production of various cytokines, including IL6 and TNF $\alpha$  (Figure 3.2B and C). We propose that TERRA containing exosomes are a significant source of SASP and TASP, as telomere dysfunction is known to occur in senescent cells. The function of this inflammation may be to recruit macrophages to and eliminate senescing cells and their byproducts from tissue consume Excessive SASP can be a source of pathogenic microenvironments (Figure 3.3). inflammation which may alter the normal physiology of neighboring cells and tissue (23). It is well known the chronic inflammation leads to a tumorigenic environment. Telomere dysfunction induced inflammation is also observed when TRF2 is depleted in mouse embryonic skin (24) and alveolar stem cells (25). We suspect that TERRA containing exosomes are a significant component of this inflammatory signaling pathway.



# Figure 3.2 cfTERRA containing exosomal RNA constitutes more activity over DNA in stimulating inflammatory cytokines.

(A) Dot blot analysis of telomeric repeats in exosomal RNA (Exo-RNA) and DNA (Exo-DNA) from sucrose gradient fractionation of LCL-derived exosomes. The blot was probed for G-rich telomeric strand (Upper) or C-rich telomeric strand (Lower).

(B-D) PBMCs were incubated with PBS, exosomes (Exo), Exo-RNA, or Exo-DNA from indicated sucrose gradient fraction 4 (F4) and fraction 10 (F10), and then assayed by qRT-PCR for expression of IL6 (B), TNF $\alpha$  (C) or control GUSB mRNA (D). Bar graphs represent qRT-PCR values relative to GAPDH mRNA (mean ± SD) from three independent experiments.



Figure 3.3 Model of cfTERRA containing exosomes as telomere-specific alarmins containing telomere-associated molecular patterns (TAMP) that mediate the crosstalk of telomere dysfunction with inflammation.

Telomere-related stress induces TERRA expression and the secretion of cfTERRA through exosomes. These cfTERRA containing exosomes are released in tissue microenvironment and circulating in body fluids. Immune cells (macrophages) detect cfTERRA containing exosomes as damage signals, and produce inflammatory cytokines to eliminate cells with dysfunctional telomeres.

## 3.3.3 cfTERRA biogenesis

TERRA is transcribed predominantly by RNA polymerase II (26) and regulated by several mechanisms, including developmental status (27), telomere length (11), epigenetic state (28), and stress (29). Numerous studies showed that telomere dysfunction induces changes in cellular TERRA levels (10,30,31). Depletion of TRF2 resulted in up-regulation of TERRA (10). Loss of TRF2 disrupts the telomere T-loop structure (32), activates ATM-mediated DNA damage response (33), and leads to telomere fusions through non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) (34). Increase expression of TERRA may be a built-in feedback mechanism to protect telomeres by generating RNA-DNA hybrids and promoting homologous recombination with other telomere repeats (16). This telomeric homologous recombination is observed in telomerase negative ALT cells. As TERRA expression is linked to telomere uncapping and dysfunction, its elevated expression correlates well with telomere damage and stress-response.

How the smaller extracellular forms of cfTERRA are generated is not known. cfTERRA expression levels typically correlate with levels of cellular TERRA, so it is likely that the cfTERRA is co-regulated with cellular TERRA production. We found that cfTERRA was typically ~200 nt in length, distinctly smaller than cellular forms of TERRA. cfTERRA can be amplified by RT-qPCR primers situated in unique sequences of the adjacent subtelomeres, suggesting that cfTERRA arises from chromosome terminal repeats. As there are many interstitial telomere repeat sequences (ITS) of 200 nucleotide length, it is also possible that some cfTERRA arises from these shorter interstitial repeats in some stress conditions. The shorter RNA forms suggest that cfTERRA are aborted, incomplete transcripts, or post-transcriptionally processed from longer forms of cellular TERRA. cfTERRA is typically detected in higher abundance than cellular TERRA. This may be due to cfTERRA being more stable, a breakdown product of full-length cellular TERRA, or an alternative, aberrant form that is rapidly eliminated through extracellular vesicle transport. We also observed that cfTERRA is co-purified with extracellular telomeric DNA (G and C-rich strands), and is associated with histone, as detected by extracellular ChIP assays with histone H3 specific antibodies (20). Others have reported that nucleosomes and telomeric DNA can be found in cell-free fractions, and are considered contaminants of exosomes. We addressed this concern by demonstrating the exosomeassociated cfTERRA is highly resistant to RNAse, while the majority of chromatin DNA can be eliminated by DNase. Thus cfTERRA is either within exosomes, or in a nuclease protected form that is co-purified with exosomes. While cfTERRA may be a jettisoned by-product of stressed cells or part of apoptotic chromatin debris, we are struck by its stability and abundance in cells and tissues. We therefore consider the intriguing possibility that this debris carries inherent telomere-specific signaling information to surrounding cells.

### 3.3.4 cfTERRA as telomere-specific alarmin, or TAMP

The term "alarmins" has been given to a family of endogenous molecules that signal cellular and tissue damage (35). Many nuclear proteins and DNA structures function as alarmins. Extracellular forms of HMGB1, an otherwise abundant chromatin associated protein, is considered a Danger Associated Molecular Pattern (DAMP) because it can be secreted at high levels in apoptotic cells and trigger macrophage cytokine production(36). Similarly, release of unmethylated CpG DNA is referred to as a Pathogen Associated Molecular Pattern (PAMP) because it appears at high levels during viral and bacterial infections and triggers a robust immunologic response(37). We suggest that cfTERRA is a telomeres-specific DAMP, or TAMP. cfTERRA by itself, or in its endogenous form associated with other exosome components, including histones, is a potent activator of IL6 and TNF $\alpha$  from human PBMCs. This represents a direct and specific communication of telomere dysfunction through DAMP-like signaling. It will be interesting to determine if the cytokine profile and innate immune response to TAMPs are distinct from other DAMPs, such as HMGB1. It is conceivable that a low level of cfTERRA serves as a healthy signal in the absence of other DAMPs, but that elevated levels by themselves, or in association with other DAMPs may initiate pathogenic inflammatory environments, including those observed in telomeropathies, like idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and bone marrow failure syndromes.

# **3.3.5 cfTERRA as potential biomarker for telomere dysfunction and associated human disease**

cfTERRA is highly stable, and relatively easy to detect by sequencing or hybridization. We were able to identify cfTERRA foci in human blood and serum by RNA-seq and dot blotting. We also detected elevated levels of TERRA in human tumor tissue, and increase incidence of cfTERRA foci in tumor tissue sections from mouse models of medulloblastoma (20). As cfTERRA can be found at high levels in normal human plasma, it is unlikely that cfTERRA can serve as a single molecular entity for diagnosis. However, it remains possible that cfTERRA in combination with other DAMPs or biomarkers, may reveal early stage pathogenesis associated with telomere-dysfunction in early stage cancers and senescence-associated inflammatory disease.

## **3.4 Acknowledgments**

We thank Andreas Wiedmer and Zhong Deng for technical support. This work was supported by grants from NIH NCI (CA RO1CA140652) to PML and from the NCI Cancer Center Core Grant (P30 CA10815) and the Commonwealth Universal Research Enhancement Program, PA Department of Health.

## **3.5 References**

<sup>1.</sup> Blackburn, E. H., Epel, E. S., and Lin, J. (2015) Human telomere biology: A contributory and interactive factor in aging, disease risks, and protection. *Science* **350**, 1193-1198

<sup>2.</sup> Sfeir, A., and de Lange, T. (2012) Removal of shelterin reveals the telomere end-protection problem. *Science* **336**, 593-597

3. Lee, S. S., Bohrson, C., Pike, A. M., Wheelan, S. J., and Greider, C. W. (2015) ATM Kinase Is Required for Telomere Elongation in Mouse and Human Cells. *Cell reports* **13**, 1623-1632

4. Nandakumar, J., and Cech, T. R. (2013) Finding the end: recruitment of telomerase to telomeres. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **14**, 69-82

5. Xie, Z., Jay, K. A., Smith, D. L., Zhang, Y., Liu, Z., Zheng, J., Tian, R., Li, H., and Blackburn, E. H. (2015) Early telomerase inactivation accelerates aging independently of telomere length. *Cell* **160**, 928-939

6. Munoz-Espin, D., and Serrano, M. (2014) Cellular senescence: from physiology to pathology. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **15**, 482-496

7. Golomb, L., Sagiv, A., Pateras, I. S., Maly, A., Krizhanovsky, V., Gorgoulis, V. G., Oren, M., and Ben-Yehuda, A. (2015) Age-associated inflammation connects RASinduced senescence to stem cell dysfunction and epidermal malignancy. *Cell death and differentiation* **22**, 1764-1774

8. Coppe, J. P., Patil, C. K., Rodier, F., Sun, Y., Munoz, D. P., Goldstein, J., Nelson, P. S., Desprez, P. Y., and Campisi, J. (2008) Senescence-associated secretory phenotypes reveal cell-nonautonomous functions of oncogenic RAS and the p53 tumor suppressor. *PLoS biology* **6**, 2853-2868

9. Braig, M., Pallmann, N., Preukschas, M., Steinemann, D., Hofmann, W., Gompf, A., Streichert, T., Braunschweig, T., Copland, M., Rudolph, K. L., Bokemeyer, C., Koschmieder, S., Schuppert, A., Balabanov, S., and Brummendorf, T. H. (2014) A 'telomere-associated secretory phenotype' cooperates with BCR-ABL to drive malignant proliferation of leukemic cells. *Leukemia* **28**, 2028-2039

10. Porro, A., Feuerhahn, S., Delafontaine, J., Riethman, H., Rougemont, J., and Lingner, J. (2014) Functional characterization of the TERRA transcriptome at damaged telomeres. *Nature communications* **5**, 5379

11. Cusanelli, E., Romero, C. A., and Chartrand, P. (2013) Telomeric noncoding RNA TERRA is induced by telomere shortening to nucleate telomerase molecules at short telomeres. *Molecular cell* **51**, 780-791

12. Azzalin, C. M., Reichenbach, P., Khoriauli, L., Giulotto, E., and Lingner, J. (2007) Telomeric repeat containing RNA and RNA surveillance factors at mammalian chromosome ends. *Science* **318**, 798-801

13. Xu, Y., Suzuki, Y., Ito, K., and Komiyama, M. (2010) Telomeric repeatcontaining RNA structure in living cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**, 14579-14584

14. Deng, Z., Norseen, J., Wiedmer, A., Riethman, H., and Lieberman, P. M. (2009) TERRA RNA binding to TRF2 facilitates heterochromatin formation and ORC recruitment at telomeres. *Molecular cell* **35**, 403-413

15. Redon, S., Reichenbach, P., and Lingner, J. (2010) The non-coding RNA TERRA is a natural ligand and direct inhibitor of human telomerase. *Nucleic acids research* **38**, 5797-5806

16. Balk, B., Maicher, A., Dees, M., Klermund, J., Luke-Glaser, S., Bender, K., and Luke, B. (2013) Telomeric RNA-DNA hybrids affect telomere-length dynamics and senescence. *Nature structural & molecular biology* **20**, 1199-1205

17. Arora, R., Lee, Y., Wischnewski, H., Brun, C. M., Schwarz, T., and Azzalin, C. M. (2014) RNaseH1 regulates TERRA-telomeric DNA hybrids and telomere maintenance in ALT tumour cells. *Nature communications* **5**, 5220

18. Ng, L. J., Cropley, J. E., Pickett, H. A., Reddel, R. R., and Suter, C. M. (2009) Telomerase activity is associated with an increase in DNA methylation at the proximal subtelomere and a reduction in telomeric transcription. *Nucleic acids research* **37**, 1152-1159

19. Deng, Z., Campbell, A. E., and Lieberman, P. M. (2010) TERRA, CpG methylation and telomere heterochromatin: lessons from ICF syndrome cells. *Cell Cycle* **9**, 69-74

20. Wang, Z., Deng, Z., Dahmane, N., Tsai, K., Wang, P., Williams, D. R., Kossenkov, A. V., Showe, L. C., Zhang, R., Huang, Q., Conejo-Garcia, J. R., and Lieberman, P. M. (2015) Telomeric repeat-containing RNA (TERRA) constitutes a nucleoprotein component of extracellular inflammatory exosomes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **112**, E6293-6300

21. van Steensel, B., Smogorzewska, A., and de Lange, T. (1998) TRF2 protects human telomeres from end-to-end fusions. *Cell* **92**, 401-413

22. Gursel, I., Gursel, M., Yamada, H., Ishii, K. J., Takeshita, F., and Klinman, D. M. (2003) Repetitive elements in mammalian telomeres suppress bacterial DNA-induced immune activation. *J Immunol* **171**, 1393-1400

23. Nakamura, M., Ohsawa, S., and Igaki, T. (2014) Mitochondrial defects trigger proliferation of neighbouring cells via a senescence-associated secretory phenotype in Drosophila. *Nature communications* **5**, 5264

24. Martinez, P., Ferrara-Romeo, I., Flores, J. M., and Blasco, M. A. (2014) Essential role for the TRF2 telomere protein in adult skin homeostasis. *Aging cell* **13**, 656-668

25. Alder, J. K., Barkauskas, C. E., Limjunyawong, N., Stanley, S. E., Kembou, F., Tuder, R. M., Hogan, B. L., Mitzner, W., and Armanios, M. (2015) Telomere dysfunction causes alveolar stem cell failure. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **112**, 5099-5104

26. Nergadze, S. G., Farnung, B. O., Wischnewski, H., Khoriauli, L., Vitelli, V., Chawla, R., Giulotto, E., and Azzalin, C. M. (2009) CpG-island promoters drive transcription of human telomeres. *Rna* **15**, 2186-2194

27. Deng, Z., Wang, Z., Xiang, C., Molczan, A., Baubet, V., Conejo-Garcia, J., Xu, X., Lieberman, P. M., and Dahmane, N. (2012) Formation of telomeric repeat-containing RNA (TERRA) foci in highly proliferating mouse cerebellar neuronal progenitors and medulloblastoma. *Journal of cell science* **125**, 4383-4394

28. Deng, Z., Wang, Z., Stong, N., Plasschaert, R., Moczan, A., Chen, H. S., Hu, S., Wikramasinghe, P., Davuluri, R. V., Bartolomei, M. S., Riethman, H., and Lieberman, P. M. (2012) A role for CTCF and cohesin in subtelomere chromatin organization, TERRA transcription, and telomere end protection. *The EMBO journal* **31**, 4165-4178

29. Tutton, S., Azzam, G. A., Stong, N., Vladimirova, O., Wiedmer, A., Monteith, J. A., Beishline, K., Wang, Z., Deng, Z., Riethman, H., McMahon, S. B., Murphy, M., and Lieberman, P. M. (2016) Subtelomeric p53 binding prevents accumulation of DNA damage at human telomeres. *The EMBO journal* **35**, 193-207

30. Deng, Z., Kim, E. T., Vladimirova, O., Dheekollu, J., Wang, Z., Newhart, A., Liu, D., Myers, J. L., Hensley, S. E., Moffat, J., Janicki, S. M., Fraser, N. W., Knipe, D. M.,

Weitzman, M. D., and Lieberman, P. M. (2014) HSV-1 remodels host telomeres to facilitate viral replication. *Cell reports* **9**, 2263-2278

31. Pfeiffer, V., Crittin, J., Grolimund, L., and Lingner, J. (2013) The THO complex component Thp2 counteracts telomeric R-loops and telomere shortening. *The EMBO journal* **32**, 2861-2871

32. Doksani, Y., Wu, J. Y., de Lange, T., and Zhuang, X. (2013) Super-resolution fluorescence imaging of telomeres reveals TRF2-dependent T-loop formation. *Cell* **155**, 345-356

33. Karlseder, J., Hoke, K., Mirzoeva, O. K., Bakkenist, C., Kastan, M. B., Petrini, J. H., and de Lange, T. (2004) The telomeric protein TRF2 binds the ATM kinase and can inhibit the ATM-dependent DNA damage response. *PLoS biology* **2**, E240

34. Ribes-Zamora, A., Indiviglio, S. M., Mihalek, I., Williams, C. L., and Bertuch, A. A. (2013) TRF2 interaction with Ku heterotetramerization interface gives insight into c-NHEJ prevention at human telomeres. *Cell reports* **5**, 194-206

35. Bianchi, M. E. (2007) DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. *Journal of leukocyte biology* **81**, 1-5

36. Pisetsky, D. (2011) Cell death in the pathogenesis of immune-mediated diseases: the role of HMGB1 and DAMP-PAMP complexes. *Swiss medical weekly* **141**, w13256

37. Pisetsky, D. S. (2012) The origin and properties of extracellular DNA: from PAMP to DAMP. *Clinical immunology* **144**, 32-40

**CHAPTER 4: Materials and methods** 

#### 4.1 Materials

## Cell Culture.

LCLs were grown in RPMI medium 1640. Human colon cancer cell line HCT116 (ATCCVA) was grown in McCoy' 5A medium. Human fibroblast IMR90 and BJ-hTERT cells (ATCC) were grown in DMEM. All these mediums were supplemented with 10% (vol/vol) FBS and 1 × penicillin-streptomycin. All cells were cultured in a 5% CO2 incubator at 37 °C. Serum starvation stress was induced by growth in serum containing 0.5% FBS for 24 h. When preparing cultures for exosomes purification, cells were washed twice with PBS and cultured in conditional medium. The conditional medium replaced the normal FBS with 10% exosome-depleted FBS, which was subjected to ultracentrifugation at 150,000 × g for 18 h to deplete exosomes in FBS.

#### **Plasmids for TERRA Induction.**

TRF1 $\Delta$ N (44-439) was cloned from pBSK-hTRF1 (a gift from T. de Lange, Rockefeller University, New York), and inserted either in control Lentivirus vector pLU-CMV-Flag (Protein Expression Facility, Wistar Institute) or Vp16 domain-containing vector pLU-CMV-Flag-Vp16. TRF2<sup> $\Delta$ BAM</sup> (45-454) was cloned from pLU-Flag- TRF2<sup> $\Delta$ BAM</sup>, and inserted into the pInducer20 vector by 2-step Gateway cloning.

Lentivirus was produced from 293T cells by cotransfecting the constructs with viral packaging vectors PMD2.G and psPAX2 and harvested 48 h after transfection. For

TERRA induction,  $5 \times 10^6$  HCT116 cells were infected with 10 mL Lentivirus overnight in the presence of 2 µg/mL Polybrene (Sigma). Infected cells were selected by 2.5 µg/mL Puromycin (Sigma) 48 h after infection. After 2 d of selection, cells were then washed twice with 1× PBS and cultured 3 d in conditional medium for exosomes purification.

## 4.2 Methods

## **Culture Medium Fractionation and Exosomes Isolation.**

The supernatant of LCL culture was fractionated and prepared for exosomes isolation by differential centrifugation as previously described with some modifications (1). Briefly, LCLs were grown in conditional medium for 3 d with cell density maintained around 0.5  $\times 10^{6}$  cells/mL. Cells were harvested by centrifugation at 300  $\times$  g for 10 min. The supernatant was collected and centrifuged at 2,000  $\times$  g for 30 min to pellet cell debris. The supernatant was subsequently filtered through a 0.45-µm filter (Millipore) and centrifuged at 16,500  $\times$  g for 30 min to pellet large microvesicles. The supernatant was further filtered through a 0.22-µm filter (Millipore) and subjected to ultracentrifugation at 110,000  $\times$  g (T45i rotor; Beckman) for 2 h to pellet exosomes. To remove potential contaminated proteins, the exosome pellet was washed once with PBS and repelleted by ultracentrifugation at 110,000  $\times$  g for 2 h. All pellets were resuspended in 100 µL PBS and kept at -80 °C until ready for use. All of the centrifugations were performed at 4 °C. The same procedures were used in preparing exosomes from culture medium of HCT116 cells.

Sucrose gradient separation of exosomes was performed as previously described with some modifications (1). The sucrose gradient was poured 1 d before use to generate a continuous 0.25–2 M sucrose solution in 20 mM Hepes buffer (pH 7.4) at 4 °C. Exosomes were isolated from 800 mL LCL culture and resuspended in 2 mL of 20 mM Hepes buffer (pH 7.4). After loaded on the top of sucrose gradient, exosomes were ultracentrifuged at 210,000 × g for 18 h at 4 °C. After the ultracentrifugation, 1-mL fractions were collected from the top, and the density of each fraction was determined by weight. Particles were pelleted from each fraction by centrifugation at 110,000 × g for 2 h in 4 °C, resuspended in 100 µL PBS, and kept at –80 °C until ready to use.

#### ChIP Assays.

Cellular ChIP assays were performed as previously described. Exosome ChIP assays (ExChIP) were developed based on cellular ChIP assays with some modifications (2). For exosome RNA ChIP assays, exosomes were isolated from 800 mL LCL culture and resuspended in 4 mL PBS. Cross-linking was performed by adding formaldehyde to a final concentration of 1% to exosomes, followed by 125 mM glycine to quench cross-linking. To remove the cross-linking reagents, exosomes were subjected to buffer exchange by 100 kDa MWCO Amicon Ultra 4 mL device (Millipore) with 5 volumes of non-SDS buffer B [50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.1), 10 mM EDTA] and concentrated to 1 mL for 10 ChIP materials. After buffer exchange, exosomes were added with protease inhibitor mixture and 50 U/mL SUPERasein (Ambion), and lysed by SDS to a final concentration of 1%. The lysates were diluted 10-fold into IP buffer [0.01% SDS, 1.1%

Triton X-100, 1.2 mM EDTA, 16.7 mM Tris (pH 8.1), 167 mM NaCl, protease inhibitor mixture, 50 U/mL SUPERasein] for an IP reaction at 4 °C overnight.

Each immunoprecipitated complex was pulled down by magnetic protein A/G beads (Pierce) by rotating at 4 °C for 2 h and washed five times (1-mL wash, 10 min each) in ChIP-related wash buffer at 4 °C. The immunoprecipitates were eluted by addition of 200µL elution buffer (1% SDS, 0.1 M NaHCO3, SUPERasein) and rotated for 15 min at room temperature. Elutes were placed at 65 °C for 2 h to reverse cross-linking and subjected to RNA isolation with TRIzol reagent as describe for cell-free RNA isolation. For exosome DNA ChIP assays, the same procedures were performed without adding SUPERasein, and ChIP DNA was isolated by phenol-chloroform extraction and treated with RNase A as previously described. Antibodies used in this study include rabbit IgG (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), CD63 antibody (H5C6; Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank), ribosomal protein S6 antibody (C-8; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), histone H3 antibody (catalog no. 39163; Active Motif), and TRF2 antibody. All ChIP assays were done in triplicate to obtain the SD.

ChIP DNA or RNA was analyzed by dot blotting. The samples were mix with denaturing solution (50% formamide, 7% formaldehyde,  $1 \times$  SSC), incubated at 65 °C for 20 min, and followed immediately by cooling down on ice. The denatured samples were mixed with ice-cold 20× SSC to a final concentration of 10× and loaded onto GeneScreen Plus blotting membranes using a dot-blotting apparatus. The membrane was cross-linked and hybridized with a 32P-labeled probe with the procedures same as described in Northern

blotting. Radioactive signals were quantified using ImageQuant 5.2 software (Molecular Dynamics).

#### **Exosomes RNA Immunoprecipitation.**

Exosome RNA immunoprecipitation was performed by incubating 100  $\mu$ g LCL exosomes with 5  $\mu$ g of each antibody and beads complex in isolation buffer (1× PBS, 0.1%BSA) by rotating overnight at 4 °C. Each immunoprecipitated complex was washed three times (1 mL wash, 10 min each) in isolation buffer. The immunoprecipitates were eluted by addition of 100 $\mu$ L elution buffer (1× RIPA, SUPERasein) and rotated for 15 min at room temperature. RNA was isolated by adding 900  $\mu$ L TRIzol reagent to elutes and analyzed by dot blotting as described above.

The antibodies used in this study included mouse IgG (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), CD63 antibody (H5C6; Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank), CD63 antibody (TS63; Invitrogen), CD81 antibody (M38; Invitrogen), CD31 antibody (P2B1; Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank), ribosomal protein S6 antibody (C-8; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), and histone H3 antibody (catalog no. 39163; Active Motif). The antibodies were pre–cross-linked with N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS)-activated magnetic beads (Pierce) per the manufacturer's instruction.

#### Blood Plasma Cell-Free RNA Isolation and RNA-seq Analysis.

The blood plasma was obtained from 2 normal subjects and 19 cancer patients, consisting of 10 different cancers that include breast, prostate, colon, duct, kidney, liver, melanoma, ovarian, and stomach. Total cell-free RNA was isolated from blood plasma with the formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded (FFPE) RNA purification kit (Norgen Biotek) per the manufacturer's instructions. The RNA-seq library was constructed by the Script-Seq strand-specific total RNA sample preparation kit (Illumina) per the manufacturer's instructions and sequenced by illumina genome analyzer IIx. Reads from 36-bp RNA-seq runs were aligned against human genome hg19 using the Tophat 2.0 algorithm, and RPKM (reads per kilobase of transcript per million mapped reads) values for all transcripts from the University of California, Santa Cruz (UCSC) database were estimated.

Additionally, all 36-bp reads were tested for maximum number of telomeric motif repeats in sense orientation. Only reads containing five and six (of six possible) perfectly matched motif repeats were considered. RPKM values were calculated assuming average cfTERRA length of 200 bp. All genes with at least 10 reads (on average, ~28,000 per sample) were ranked by RPKM values of their most expressed transcript. The cfTERRA ranks were reported along with visual representation of the 1st, 5th, 50th, 95th, and 99th quantiles for gene distribution of RPKM expression values for every sample.

#### **RNA in Vitro Transcription.**

The in vitro transcription of TERRA was performed using the MEGAscript T7 kit (Ambion) using linearized plasmids containing 250-bp telomeric repeats with a T7 promoter at either the 3' end for sense TelG RNA or at the 5' end for antisense TelC RNA (a gift from H. C. Riethman, Wistar Institute, Philadelphia). U6-containing RNA was synthesized using the linearized pU6-neo-TET plasmid (Addgene plasmid #51286) as a template. Plasmid templates were removed by Turbo DNase I after the transcription reaction. RNA was gel purified, and 50 ng was used in RNase digestion for Northern blot.

#### **PBMC Isolation and Cytokine Stimulation.**

PBMCs were isolated from fresh donated human blood by density gradient centrifugation with Lymphoprep in SepMate-50 tubes (Stemcell Technologies). Briefly, the blood was placed on top of Lymphoprep in SepMate-50 tubes and centrifuged at 1,200  $\times$  g for 10 min. PBMCs from the top layer were harvested and washed twice with PBS. Cells were resuspended in serum-free RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 10 mM Hepes (pH 7.25), 1 $\times$  Glutamax, and penicillin-streptomycin. For experiments, cells were seeded in 24-well nonadhering plates at a density of 1.5  $\times$  106 cells/mL in each well and stimulated with exosomes or RNA-containing liposomes. These liposomes were prepared by incorporating RNA from in vitro transcription or synthesized oligos (IDT) into Lipofectamine 2000 as previously described (2). After stimulated for 3 h, PBMCs were collected for RNA isolation by TRIzol reagent as described earlier. The stimulation of IMR90 cells was performed in the same way as that in PBMCs, except that IMR90 cells were seeded in six-well plates at a density of  $0.5 \times 106$  cells per well and cultured overnight in conditional medium with 10% exosome-depleted FBS. RNA oligos used in this study are as follows:

Control oligos: 5'-CACUGACACUGACACUGACACUGACACUGACACUGA-3' TelG RNA oligos: 5'-UUAGGGUUAGGGUUAGGGUUAGGGUUAGGGUUAGGG-3' TelC RNA oligos 5'-CCCUAACCCUAACCCUAACCCUAACCCUAACCCUAA-3'

## **Electron Microscopy.**

After sucrose gradient separation of exosomes, fractions were submitted to the Electron Microscopy Resource Laboratory (EMRL) at University of Pennsylvania for electron microscopy imaging. Three microliters of each fraction was applied to lacey carbon films on 400-mesh copper transmission electron microscopy (TEM) grids. Excess liquid was blotted away with filter paper until a thin vicinal film remained. The liquid containing the fractions contents was vitrified in liquid nitrogen and cooled with liquid ethane by plunge freezing. Samples were observed at -180 °C using a Gatan 626 cryo-transfer holder on a FEI Tecnai 12 transmission electron microscope operating at 120 KeV. Images were collected digitally on a Gatan US1000 CCD bottom-mounted camera.

#### **Telomeric RNA FISH on Tissue Sections.**

Telomeric RNA FISH on tissue sections (7–12  $\mu$ m) was prepared as previously described (3). Briefly, fresh frozen sections were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA), followed by acetylation. For RNase A treatment, the slides were incubated in PBST with 100 mg/mL RNase A at 37 °C for 45 min and washed three times with PBS. All slides were prehybridized in hybridization buffer (50% formamide, 5× SSC, 5× Denhardts, 25 mg/mL yeast RNA, 0.5 mg/mL salmon sperm DNA) for 1 h at 37 °C and followed by hybridization with probe overnight at 37 °C. The probe used for TERRA detection is a Tamra-(CCCTAA)3 PNA probe (Panagene). After hybridization, slides were washed in the following sequence for 5 min at each step with gentle shaking:  $2 \times SSC$ , 50% formamide for three times at 39 °C; 2× SSC for three times at 39 °C; 1× SSC once for 10 min at room temperature; and 4× SSC once at room temperature. Cellular nucleus DNA was counterstained with 0.1 g/mL DAPI in  $4 \times$  SSC and 0.1% Tween-20, washed in  $4 \times$ SSC, and mounted with mounting media. Slides were visualized by a Nikon E600 Upright microscope (Nikon Instruments) with ImageProPlus software (Media Cybemetrics) and Adobe PhotoShop CS5 for image processing.

## **RNA Isolation.**

Cellular and cell-free RNA was isolated with TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen) per the manufacturer's instructions. For cellular RNA, the isolation was performed as previously described. For cell-free RNA, 50  $\mu$ L of each culture fraction (cell debris, microvesicles,

or exosomes) was mixed with 450  $\mu$ L TRIzol, followed by adding 100  $\mu$ L chloroform. The mix was centrifuged at 12,000 × g for 15 min at 4 °C, and the aqueous phase was collected. RNA was precipitated at -20 °C for at least 1 h by mixing the aqueous phase with an equal volume of isopropanol precipitation and 1.5  $\mu$ L GlycoBlue (Ambion) and collected by centrifugation at 20,000 × g for 30 min. RNA precipitates were washed with 75% ethanol, air dried, and resuspended in Nuclease-free water. These samples were treated with 1 U DNase I for 30 min at 37 °C, followed by DNase I inactivation in the presence of EDTA at 65 °C for 5 min. RNA concentration was determined by Nanodrop-2000 (Thermo Fisher). The same procedures were used in isolating cell-free RNA from sucrose fractions, RNA ChIP elute, in vitro transcribed RNA, and exosomes of HCT116 cells. For RNase treatment, RNA was incubated with the indicated RNase at 37 °C for 1 h. The RNase mixture used in this study was a combination of 100 ng/ $\mu$ L RNase A, 1 U/ $\mu$ L RNase H, and 1 U/ $\mu$ L RNase T1.

#### Northern Blot and RNA Detection.

RNA was electrophoresed on an agarose formamide gel and transferred onto a nylon membrane for Northern blotting analysis. The amounts of RNA loaded were normalized based on the purpose of each experiment as indicated in the figure legends. Briefly, each RNA sample was denatured in NorthernMax formaldehyde load dye (Ambion) for 15 min at 65 °C and separated by 1.2% agarose formamide gel in 1× Mops buffer (Ambion) at 5 V/cm. As the size of cfTERRA is ~200 bp, electrophorese was stopped when bromophenol blue dye reached 5 cm of a 9 cm agarose formamide gel. After

electrophorese, RNA samples were transferred to GeneScreen Plus blotting membranes (Perkin-Elmer) with 10× SSC and UV cross-linked onto membrane at 125 mJ in UV Stratalinker 2400 (Stratagene). For RNA detection, the blot was hybridized with a 32P-labeled probe using Church buffer (0.5 N Na-phosphate, pH 7.2, 7% SDS, 1 mM EDTA, 1% BSA) for 18 h at 50 °C. The blot was washed twice in 0.2 N Na-phosphate, 2% SDS, and 1 mM EDTA at room temperature and once in 0.1 N Na-phosphate, 2% SDS, and 1 mM EDTA at 50 °C. Radioactive signals were collected by phosphor-imager (Amersham Biosciences). Images were visualized with a Typhoon 9410 Imager (GE Healthcare). To reprobe the blot, the membrane was stripped in 1% SDS, 0.1× SSC, and 40 mM Tris HCl (pH 7.5) and hybridized with another probe under the same conditions.

The probes were 5' end-labeled with 32P by T4 polynucleotide kinase (NEB) per the manufacturer's instructions. The probe sequences are as follows:

- TERRA: 5'-TAACCCTAACCCTAACCCTAACCC-3';
- Antisense TERRA: 5'-TTAGGGTTAGGGTTAGGGTTAGGG-3';
- 18S: 5'-CCATCCAATCGGTAGTAGCG-3';
- U6: 5'-GCAGGGGCCATGCTAATCTTCTCTGTATCG -3'
- The alpha satellite probe was a mixture of three oligos:
  - 5'-CATTAAAACAAGACAGAAGCATTCTCAGAAACTCCTTTAGATGTCTGCA-3';
  - 5'-TGGACATTTGGAGCTCTTTTAGGCTATCGGTTGAAAAGGAAGTATCTTCA-3';
  - 5'-TTTCTTTTGATAGTGCAGTTTTGAAACATTCTTTTTAAAAAATCTGCAG-3'.
- The EREB1 probe was a mixture of two oligos:
  - 5'-CGATAAGCTTAAAACATGCGGACCACC-3';
  - 5'-AAGCAGAGTCTGGGAAGACAACCA-3'.

#### **Protein Analysis.**

For cellular proteins, cells were lysed in RIPA buffer containing protease inhibitor mixture by rotating at 4 °C for 30 min and centrifuged at  $14,000 \times g$  at 4 °C for 15 min. Exosomal proteins were obtained by lysing the membrane with 1% SDS in the presence of the protease inhibitor mixture. The protein concentration was determined by the Bradford assay (BioRad). Total proteins were separated on a 8–16% Tris-Glycine gel (Invitrogen).

For Western blotting, the gel was transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (BioRad). The membrane was first stained with Ponceau S to reveal the relative loading in each lane and blocked in 5% nonfat dry milk in Tris-buffered saline with Tween-20 (TBST). Then, it was probed with primary antibodies against CD63 (H5C6 for nongylcosylated form), CD63 [MEM-259 (Abcam) for the gylcosylated form], histone H4 (L64C1; Cell Signaling Tech), H3, S6, and TRF2 as indicated. After washing three times with TBST, the blot was incubated with HRP-coupled secondary antibody and developed with Luminata HRP detection reagent (Milipore).

Before submitting for MS, the gel was stained by Silver Stain Plus (BioRad). The samples corresponding to cfTERRA signals were digested in solution with trypsin. The digested protein sample was analyzed by LC-MS/MS on a Q Exactive Plus mass spectrometer. MS/MS spectra generated from the MS were searched against a human database using SEQUEST. The proteins identified by LC-MS/MS were sorted by

normalized spectra count (spectra count/molecular weight) to determine which proteins are unique and abundant as shown in Dataset 1. The top 250 proteins in the LCL exosomes were analyzed by the FunRich program and compared with exosome proteins in the Vesiclepedia database.

## **RT-PCR** Analysis of RNA.

RT-PCR experiments were performed as previously described (3) with some modifications. Briefly, 1  $\mu$ g RNA was reversed transcribed with random hexamers by Super Script IV First-Strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen) in a 20- $\mu$ L reaction. Synthesized cDNA was diluted with 80  $\mu$ L Nuclease-free water and analyzed by real-time PCR with a SYBR green probe with the QuantStudio 6 Flex System (Life Technologies) using the standard curve method. Relative RT-PCR was determined using the  $\Delta$ CT method relative to the internal control GAPDH.

Primer sequences used for real-time PCR are listed in Table 2.

## Statistics.

Statistical analyses were carried out by paired Student t tests unless otherwise stated. P values and significance levels are annotated in the figures and described in the figure legends.

## 4.3 References

1. Thery, C., Amigorena, S., Raposo, G., and Clayton, A. (2006) Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatants and biological fluids. *Current protocols in cell biology* Chapter 3, Unit 3 22

2. Deng, Z., Wang, Z., Stong, N., Plasschaert, R., Moczan, A., Chen, H. S., Hu, S., Wikramasinghe, P., Davuluri, R. V., Bartolomei, M. S., Riethman, H., and Lieberman, P. M. (2012) A role for CTCF and cohesin in subtelomere chromatin organization, TERRA transcription, and telomere end protection. *The EMBO journal* **31**, 4165-4178

3. Deng, Z., Wang, Z., Xiang, C., Molczan, A., Baubet, V., Conejo-Garcia, J., Xu, X., Lieberman, P. M., and Dahmane, N. (2012) Formation of telomeric repeat-containing RNA (TERRA) foci in highly proliferating mouse cerebellar neuronal progenitors and medulloblastoma. *Journal of cell science* **125**, 4383-4394

**CHAPTER 5: Final discussion** 

In the studies of this dissertation, we demonstrated that a cell-free form of TERRA is secreted through exosomes, and represents a telomere-specific molecular pattern (TAMP) from dysfunctional telomeres to activate the innate immune signaling in the recipient cells. This dissertation is the first study that characterized the extrinsic role of TERRA in mediating the crosstalk between telomere dysfunction and inflammation. Here, I will discuss the significance of this study in the context of aging and tumorigenesis, and the therapeutic potentials of cfTERRA-containing exosomes.

## 5.1 Telomere dysfunction occurs during aging and tumorigenesis

Telomere dysfunction results from telomere shortening, uncapped telomeres, or DNA damage at telomeres, which occur during aging and tumorigenesis (1) (2). Telomere shortening is an inevitable event of aging due to the nature of DNA replication in linear chromosomes (3). Short telomeres lose the ability to bind shelterin complex, which protects the telomeric DNA from being recognized as DNA damage (4). Persistent DNA damage response activates the p53 to induce apoptosis or senescence (5). Loss of functional p53 increases genomic instability as repair of the dysfunctional telomeres results in chromosome fusions by the NHEJ repair machinery, which promotes tumorigenesis (6). Oncogene expression often induces DNA replication stress, which is demonstrated to promote telomere dysfunction in precancerous lesions (7). Detecting dysfunctional telomeres may provide insight into premature aging and tumorigenesis.
#### 5.2 Dysfunctional telomeres cause TERRA deregulation

There is accumulating evidence that TERRA expression is deregulated during telomere dysfunction induced by uncapped telomeres (8), tumorigenesis (9), and viral infection (10).Depletion of TRF2 induces telomere uncapping and dysfunction, which is associated with TERRA induction (8). In Chapter 3, we found the dominant negative form of TRF2 showed a similar effect, suggesting that dysfunctional telomeres promote TERRA transcription. The induction of TERRA transcription could be due to DNA damage response as a result of p53 activation, as we previous found p53 directly bound to subtelomeres to regulate TERRA transcription (11). Other transcription factors, such as HSF1 (12) and NRF1 (13) have been shown to stimulate TERRA transcription in response to variable cellular stress, suggesting TERRA might represent a stress response signal from telomeres. Similar to telomeres, other repetitive regions of genome are transcribed under the cellular stress. For instance, short interspersed nuclear elements (SINEs) are silenced in somatic cells, but activated during murine gamma herpesvirus 68 (MHV68) infection (14). Interestingly, we found herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1) infection triggers a profound TERRA induction (10). It seems that these repetitive noncoding RNAs may share some unknown roles during certain cellular stress response.

### **5.3 TERRA represents a telomere-specific molecular pattern (TAMP)**

Considering the dysfunctional telomere-induced TERRA, we hypothesized that TERRA represents a telomere-specific molecular pattern (TAMP) to activate the innate immune signaling. The innate immune system detects endogenous damage and pathogens

initiating self-defense mechanisms (15). Since many of the repetitive non-coding RNAs are considered of viral origin (16), many of them are immunogenic including LINE1 (17), SINEs (14) and human satellite II (HSATII) RNAs (18) when induced during stress. In our studies, cfTERRA-containing exosomes and TERRA-mimic oligonucleotides activate innate immune signaling in PBMCs, which supports our hypothesis. A recent study presented another result suggesting that TERRA induction did not affect gene expression in 2D culture of cancer cell lines, but suppressed innate immune related genes when cultured in 3D (19). Indeed, we did not notice significant changes in cytokines when inducing TERRA in 2D cultures of HCT116 cells (Figure 5.1B), but observed an increase of cytokines when TERRA was induced in 2D culture of normal fibroblast cells (Figure 5.1C). These findings suggest that the immunoregulatory activity of TERRA may depend on the cell-type or cellular context. It is necessary to further test the role of TERRA in regulating immune system *in vivo* in the future.



Figure 5.1 Cytokine expression profile in response to TERRA induction in cancerous HCT116 and normal fibroblast BJ-hTERT cell lines. (A) Northern blotting to examine the TERRA induction by Vp16-TRF1- $\Delta$ N in HCT116 and BJ-hTERT cell lines. (B) Cytokine expression profile in HCT116 after TERRA induction. (C) Cytokine expression profile in BJ-hTERT after TERRA induction.

The cfTERRA in the exosomes is a unique form of TERRA. Compared to endogenous cellular TERRA, cfTERRA were smaller and more resistant to RNaseA treatment as shown in Figure 2.2B and Figure 5.2. In Figure 5.2, we characterized the total nucleic acids isolated from exosomes, and found that both cfTERRA and telomeric DNA were associated with exosomes. This cell-free telomeric DNA was 200-4,000 nt and sensitive to DNase I treatment, whereas cfTERRA was ~200 nt and only sensitive to DNase I and NaOH treatment. Also, it requires the RNase cocktails, which include RNaseA, RNaseT1 and RNaseH, to completely digest cfTERRA (Figure 4.2), suggesting cfTERRA may be

modified or in a unique secondary structure to preserve the stability during the transfer by exosomes. Determination of the modification and structure of cfTERRA may provide more information on the immunoregulatory activity and biogenesis. In addition, the biogenesis of cfTERRA-containing exosomes may be affected by lysosomal and autophagy pathways. During telomere dysfunction, cfTERRA and telomeric DNA may be excluded from nucleus for degradation in lysosome or autophagosome. As the lysosomal and autophagy pathways cross talk with the endosomal pathway (20), cfTERRA and telomeric DNA may be partially incorporated into exosomes. It would be interesting to test how lysosomal and autophagy pathways affect cfTERRA secretion by exosomes.



**Figure 5.2 Nuclease characterizations of exosomal nucleic acids.** The total nucleic acids isolated from exosomes were treated with DNase I, RNase A, NaOH, or their combination. After treatment, the nucleic acids were examined by Northern blotting.

Another future direction is to determine the molecular details of the innate immune signaling pathway in response to cfTERRA-containing exosomes. Since exosomes are endocytosed, TLR7 and TLR8, single-stranded RNA sensors localized in endosome (21), may play a role in detecting cfTERRA delivered by exosomes. TLR7/TLR8 is shown to detect the LINE1 induced during environmental stress and in autoimmune diseases including lupus nephritis and Sjögren's syndrome (22). It would be worthwhile to test whether TLR7/TLR8 knockdown affects the innate immune signaling in response to cfTERRA-containing exosomes, along with other RNA pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) such as TLR3, RIG-I and MDA5 (23). Meanwhile, telomeric DNA oligoes are shown to inhibit TLR9-mediated innate immune signaling (24). The presence of telomeric DNA in exosomes may provide the inhibitory mechanism to limit innate immune response. The fine balance of the immune response is vital to avoid autoimmunity (25). A long noncoding RNA lincRNA-Cox2 is an example, which showed regulatory activity in both activating and inhibiting immune response (26).

### 5.4 Chronic inflammation promotes on cellular aging and tumorigenesis

Chronic inflammation promotes cellular aging and tumorigenesis (27). The nfkb1 knockout mice develop low-grade chronic inflammation and display the markers of dysfunctional telomeres and accelerated aging (28). As mentioned in Chapter 1, this low-grade chronic inflammation gives rise to telomere attrition associated with diabetes (29) and chronic kidney diseases (30), as examples of "inflammaging" diseases (31). The effect of inflammation on tumorigenesis is more complicated (32). Acute inflammation is tumor suppressive, as the inflammatory cytokines recruit immune cells to eliminate

precancerous lesions (33). For instance, GM-CSF recruits DC cells to enhance its antitumor activity by presenting tumor antigens to T cells (34). However, chronic inflammation creates a tumor microenvironment that is favorable for tumor progression. Constant exposure to GM-CSF could switch it from tumor suppressive to stimulatory, as it promotes metastasis of breast cancer (35). IL6 is another cytokine that promotes tumor growth by activating the pro-survival JAK/STAT signaling pathway (36). Since cfTERRA-containing exosomes are able to activate inflammatory cytokine signaling, prolonged exposure would promote cellular aging and tumor progression. It is intriguing to test this hypothesis using *in vivo* studies in the future.

## 5.5 The therapeutic potentials of cfTERRA-containing exosomes

Because exosome analysis is relatively non-invasive, cfTERRA-containing exosomes may serve as a useful biomarker for the detection of telomere dysfunction, which often occurs in precancerous lesions or aging-associated inflammatory disease. Due to the limited samples in our cell-free RNA-seq, we were not able to draw a statistical conclusion of cfTERRA-containing exosomes in association with a particular cancer type at this point. Future cohort studies of clinical samples would be informative to establish the correlation. Notably, Umezu T. et al. confirms our observation of cfTERRA, and shows that cfTERRA levels are correlated with cellular TERRA expression in myelodysplastic syndrome (37). Besides, there are several vaccines have been developed by re-engineering exosomes due to the immunogenic property of exosomes (38). As cfTERRA is highly stable and immunostimulatory, it would be interesting to learn whether cfTERRA could be applied to the exosomes-based vaccine development. Together, this dissertation described a previously unrecognized connection between telomere dysfunction and inflammation through cfTERRA-containing exosomes. We characterized the molecular details of the cfTERRA-containing exosomes, and found cfTERRA was a shorter form (~200 nt) of cellular TERRA, and mostly enriched in the CD81-positive exosome vesicles. These exosomes contained the nucleoprotein complex formed by cfTERRA, telomeric DNA and histones. Increasing levels of cfTERRA and DNA damage-induced histone  $\gamma$ H2AX were incorporated into the exosomes during telomere dysfunction. These elevated cfTERRA levels in exosomes activated a robust transcription of inflammatory cytokines in PBMCs, suggesting cfTERRA may represent a telomere-specific molecular pattern (TAMP) from dysfunctional telomeres to activate the extracellular inflammatory signaling. Since cfTERRA is detectable in human blood plasma, we also proposed that it may provide an informative biomarker for telomere dysfunction in precancerous lesions or aging-associated inflammatory disease.

# 5.6 References

<sup>1.</sup> Deng, Y., Chan, S. S., and Chang, S. (2008) Telomere dysfunction and tumour suppression: the senescence connection. *Nature reviews. Cancer* **8**, 450-458

<sup>2.</sup> Hewitt, G., Jurk, D., Marques, F. D., Correia-Melo, C., Hardy, T., Gackowska, A., Anderson, R., Taschuk, M., Mann, J., and Passos, J. F. (2012) Telomeres are favoured targets of a persistent DNA damage response in ageing and stress-induced senescence. *Nature communications* **3**, 708

<sup>3.</sup> Gilson, E., and Geli, V. (2007) How telomeres are replicated. *Nature reviews*. *Molecular cell biology* **8**, 825-838

<sup>4.</sup> Karlseder, J., Smogorzewska, A., and de Lange, T. (2002) Senescence induced by altered telomere state, not telomere loss. *Science* **295**, 2446-2449

<sup>5.</sup> Rodier, F., Coppe, J. P., Patil, C. K., Hoeijmakers, W. A., Munoz, D. P., Raza, S. R., Freund, A., Campeau, E., Davalos, A. R., and Campisi, J. (2009) Persistent DNA damage signalling triggers senescence-associated inflammatory cytokine secretion. *Nature cell biology* **11**, 973-979

6. Bartocci, C., Diedrich, J. K., Ouzounov, I., Li, J., Piunti, A., Pasini, D., Yates, J. R., 3rd, and Lazzerini Denchi, E. (2014) Isolation of chromatin from dysfunctional telomeres reveals an important role for Ring1b in NHEJ-mediated chromosome fusions. *Cell reports* **7**, 1320-1332

7. Suram, A., Kaplunov, J., Patel, P. L., Ruan, H., Cerutti, A., Boccardi, V., Fumagalli, M., Di Micco, R., Mirani, N., Gurung, R. L., Hande, M. P., d'Adda di Fagagna, F., and Herbig, U. (2012) Oncogene-induced telomere dysfunction enforces cellular senescence in human cancer precursor lesions. *The EMBO journal* **31**, 2839-2851

8. Porro, A., Feuerhahn, S., Delafontaine, J., Riethman, H., Rougemont, J., and Lingner, J. (2014) Functional characterization of the TERRA transcriptome at damaged telomeres. *Nature communications* **5**, 5379

9. Deng, Z., Wang, Z., Xiang, C., Molczan, A., Baubet, V., Conejo-Garcia, J., Xu, X., Lieberman, P. M., and Dahmane, N. (2012) Formation of telomeric repeat-containing RNA (TERRA) foci in highly proliferating mouse cerebellar neuronal progenitors and medulloblastoma. *Journal of cell science* **125**, 4383-4394

10. Deng, Z., Kim, E. T., Vladimirova, O., Dheekollu, J., Wang, Z., Newhart, A., Liu, D., Myers, J. L., Hensley, S. E., Moffat, J., Janicki, S. M., Fraser, N. W., Knipe, D. M., Weitzman, M. D., and Lieberman, P. M. (2014) HSV-1 remodels host telomeres to facilitate viral replication. *Cell reports* **9**, 2263-2278

11. Tutton, S., Azzam, G. A., Stong, N., Vladimirova, O., Wiedmer, A., Monteith, J. A., Beishline, K., Wang, Z., Deng, Z., Riethman, H., McMahon, S. B., Murphy, M., and Lieberman, P. M. (2016) Subtelomeric p53 binding prevents accumulation of DNA damage at human telomeres. *The EMBO journal* **35**, 193-207

12. Koskas, S., Decottignies, A., Dufour, S., Pezet, M., Verdel, A., Vourc'h, C., and Faure, V. (2017) Heat shock factor 1 promotes TERRA transcription and telomere protection upon heat stress. *Nucleic acids research* 

13. Diman, A., Boros, J., Poulain, F., Rodriguez, J., Purnelle, M., Episkopou, H., Bertrand, L., Francaux, M., Deldicque, L., and Decottignies, A. (2016) Nuclear respiratory factor 1 and endurance exercise promote human telomere transcription. *Science advances* **2**, e1600031

14. Karijolich, J., Abernathy, E., and Glaunsinger, B. A. (2015) Infection-Induced Retrotransposon-Derived Noncoding RNAs Enhance Herpesviral Gene Expression via the NF-kappaB Pathway. *PLoS pathogens* **11**, e1005260

15. Brubaker, S. W., Bonham, K. S., Zanoni, I., and Kagan, J. C. (2015) Innate immune pattern recognition: a cell biological perspective. *Annual review of immunology* **33**, 257-290

16. Koonin, E. V., Wolf, Y. I., Nagasaki, K., and Dolja, V. V. (2008) The Big Bang of picorna-like virus evolution antedates the radiation of eukaryotic supergroups. *Nature reviews. Microbiology* **6**, 925-939

17. Morales, J. F., Snow, E. T., and Murnane, J. P. (2003) Environmental factors affecting transcription of the human L1 retrotransposon. II. Stressors. *Mutagenesis* 18, 151-158

18. Kishikawa, T., Otsuka, M., Yoshikawa, T., Ohno, M., Yamamoto, K., Yamamoto, N., Kotani, A., and Koike, K. (2016) Quantitation of circulating satellite RNAs in pancreatic cancer patients. *JCI insight* **1**, e86646

19. Hirashima, K., and Seimiya, H. (2015) Telomeric repeat-containing RNA/Gquadruplex-forming sequences cause genome-wide alteration of gene expression in human cancer cells in vivo. *Nucleic acids research* **43**, 2022-2032

20. Baixauli, F., Lopez-Otin, C., and Mittelbrunn, M. (2014) Exosomes and autophagy: coordinated mechanisms for the maintenance of cellular fitness. *Frontiers in immunology* **5**, 403

21. Jensen, S., and Thomsen, A. R. (2012) Sensing of RNA viruses: a review of innate immune receptors involved in recognizing RNA virus invasion. *Journal of virology* **86**, 2900-2910

22. Mavragani, C. P., Sagalovskiy, I., Guo, Q., Nezos, A., Kapsogeorgou, E. K., Lu, P., Liang Zhou, J., Kirou, K. A., Seshan, S. V., Moutsopoulos, H. M., and Crow, M. K. (2016) Expression of Long Interspersed Nuclear Element 1 Retroelements and Induction of Type I Interferon in Patients With Systemic Autoimmune Disease. *Arthritis & rheumatology* **68**, 2686-2696

23. Schlee, M., and Hartmann, G. (2016) Discriminating self from non-self in nucleic acid sensing. *Nature reviews. Immunology* **16**, 566-580

24. El Kebir, D., Jozsef, L., Pan, W., Wang, L., and Filep, J. G. (2009) Bacterial DNA activates endothelial cells and promotes neutrophil adherence through TLR9 signaling. *Journal of immunology* **182**, 4386-4394

25. Sharma, S., Fitzgerald, K. A., Cancro, M. P., and Marshak-Rothstein, A. (2015) Nucleic Acid-Sensing Receptors: Rheostats of Autoimmunity and Autoinflammation. *Journal of immunology* **195**, 3507-3512

26. Carpenter, S., Aiello, D., Atianand, M. K., Ricci, E. P., Gandhi, P., Hall, L. L., Byron, M., Monks, B., Henry-Bezy, M., Lawrence, J. B., O'Neill, L. A., Moore, M. J., Caffrey, D. R., and Fitzgerald, K. A. (2013) A long noncoding RNA mediates both activation and repression of immune response genes. *Science* **341**, 789-792

27. Khatami, M. (2009) Inflammation, aging, and cancer: tumoricidal versus tumorigenesis of immunity: a common denominator mapping chronic diseases. *Cell biochemistry and biophysics* **55**, 55-79

28. Jurk, D., Wilson, C., Passos, J. F., Oakley, F., Correia-Melo, C., Greaves, L., Saretzki, G., Fox, C., Lawless, C., Anderson, R., Hewitt, G., Pender, S. L., Fullard, N., Nelson, G., Mann, J., van de Sluis, B., Mann, D. A., and von Zglinicki, T. (2014) Chronic inflammation induces telomere dysfunction and accelerates ageing in mice. *Nature communications* **2**, 4172

29. Januszewski, A. S., Sutanto, S. S., McLennan, S., O'Neal, D. N., Keech, A. C., Twigg, S. M., and Jenkins, A. J. (2016) Shorter telomeres in adults with Type 1 diabetes correlate with diabetes duration, but only weakly with vascular function and risk factors. *Diabetes research and clinical practice* **117**, 4-11

30. Stefanidis, I., Voliotis, G., Papanikolaou, V., Chronopoulou, I., Eleftheriadis, T., Kowald, A., Zintzaras, E., and Tsezou, A. (2015) Telomere Length in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells of Patients on Chronic Hemodialysis Is Related With Telomerase Activity and Treatment Duration. *Artificial organs* **39**, 756-764

31. Franceschi, C., Garagnani, P., Vitale, G., Capri, M., and Salvioli, S. (2017) Inflammaging and 'Garb-aging'. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM* **28**, 199-212

32. Zamarron, B. F., and Chen, W. (2011) Dual roles of immune cells and their factors in cancer development and progression. *International journal of biological sciences* **7**, 651-658

33. Shalapour, S., and Karin, M. (2015) Immunity, inflammation, and cancer: an eternal fight between good and evil. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **125**, 3347-3355 34. Mach, N., Gillessen, S., Wilson, S. B., Sheehan, C., Mihm, M., and Dranoff, G. (2000) Differences in dendritic cells stimulated in vivo by tumors engineered to secrete granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor or Flt3-ligand. *Cancer research* **60**, 3239-3246

35. Park, B. K., Zhang, H., Zeng, Q., Dai, J., Keller, E. T., Giordano, T., Gu, K., Shah, V., Pei, L., Zarbo, R. J., McCauley, L., Shi, S., Chen, S., and Wang, C. Y. (2007) NF-kappaB in breast cancer cells promotes osteolytic bone metastasis by inducing osteoclastogenesis via GM-CSF. *Nature medicine* **13**, 62-69

36. Grivennikov, S., Karin, E., Terzic, J., Mucida, D., Yu, G. Y., Vallabhapurapu, S., Scheller, J., Rose-John, S., Cheroutre, H., Eckmann, L., and Karin, M. (2009) IL-6 and Stat3 are required for survival of intestinal epithelial cells and development of colitis-associated cancer. *Cancer cell* **15**, 103-113

37. Umezu, T., Kobayashi, C., Satoshi, I., Junko, O., Asano, M., and Ohyashiki, K. Telomeric Repeat-Containing RNA Terra in Myelodysplastic Syndrome: Utility of Cell-Free Terra Packaged in Extracellular Vesicles. *Leukemia research* **55**, S91

38. Di Bonito, P., Ridolfi, B., Columba-Cabezas, S., Giovannelli, A., Chiozzini, C., Manfredi, F., Anticoli, S., Arenaccio, C., and Federico, M. (2015) HPV-E7 delivered by engineered exosomes elicits a protective CD8(+) T cell-mediated immune response. *Viruses* **7**, 1079-1099